# Future Material Demand and Associated Greenhouse Gas Emissions for Aluminum Used in Global Photovoltaic Systems Penghui Xie





Student Name Student Number

Penghui Xie

5697832

Supervisor:Dr. Malte Vogt, Assistant ProfessorDaily supervisor:Dr. Chengjian Xu, PostdocProject:Master of Sustainable Energy TechnologyProject Duration:October, 2023 - August, 2024Faculty:Faculty of Electrical Engineering, Mathematics and Computer Science, Delft



# Acknowledgements

Two years ago on this day, I was confined to my home in Xinjiang due to the COVID-19 pandemic, anxiously wondering if my upcoming flight to Amsterdam would depart as planned. At that time, I was filled with anticipation for the new challenges ahead, yet also worry about the journey of studying abroad. I am someone with ambition but lacking in action, eager to explore and communicate, yet timid and introverted. I chose to pursue a master's degree abroad to see a broader world, while the unfamiliar surroundings and linguistic environment filled me with anxiety. I always had to force myself to dive into new experiences and then learn to adapt and find comfort in them. During my two years at TU Delft, I had more time to reflect on my emotions. Sometimes, I felt anxious about not being busy enough; other times, I was content to go with the flow. The solitude sometime allowed me to appreciate the beauty of the world peacefully, sometime it left me feeling empty and despondent. In this solitude, I learned to cherish companionship more deeply and to value the moments I was living through. Besides that, although much of the coursework overlapped with my previous studies, I still gained new knowledge and, more importantly, was exposed to different ways of thinking from classmates from various countries.

I want to thank my friends Yunxian, Weiming, Ke, and Fan, for the invaluable companionship and sense of belonging you provided. My memories of this study abroad experience are filled with thoughts of you. I am also deeply grateful to my family for their unwavering support—I love you all. To my dearest friends, Wen and Shiwei, your companionship from afar has been the warmest gift. I also want to thank myself. Even though I didn't spend much time on my studies, and I didn't achieve the grades I wanted, I courageously made it through these two years. For me, this was merely an experiment, a break, and I am willing to accept whatever the outcome may be. All the experiences, thoughts, had become a part of who I am now and who I will be in the future. I celebrate myself for that.

Special thanks to Malte for offering me the opportunity and assistance with this thesis. I'm glad that through this research, I was able to learn about the workings of material flow models, knowing the material consumption in photovoltaic systems, and aluminum production. This thesis has been a valuable experience for me, both in terms of knowledge and personal growth. I also want to thank Chengjian for providing me with significant help and guiding my thoughts—your patience and guidance have been greatly appreciated.

The end of one journey marks the beginning of another. With anticipation for the future, I am ready to embark on this new chapter, just as I was two years ago.

### Abstract

As the global energy sector shifts towards electrification to achieve a net-zero future, the demand for photovoltaic (PV) systems is expected to surge. By 2050, an estimated 63.4 TW of installed PV capacity will be required, with annual additions reaching up to 4.5 TW, to help limit global temperature rise to below 2°C. This significant expansion will substantially increase the demand for aluminum, a key material in PV systems. This study presents a material flow model to analyze aluminum demand and its environmental impacts in global PV systems from 2020 to 2050. The model captures the flow of aluminum through module frames, mounting systems, and inverters, while also considering the influence of various parameters such as PV efficiency, aluminum intensity of components, component lifetimes, and recycling rates. In the baseline scenario, cumulative aluminum demand is projected to reach 830.98 mega tonnes (Mt) by 2050. However, through advancements in PV efficiency, reduction in material intensity, extension of component lifetimes, and improvement in aluminum recycling rates, the demand could potentially be reduced to 568.65 Mt.

Despite these mitigation strategies, the rapid growth in PV deployment poses significant challenges for aluminum supply, as global aluminum production is projected to be only 176 Mt by 2050, suggesting substantial supply pressures. Moreover, aluminum production is both energy- and carbon-intensive, contributing significantly to global greenhouse gas emissions. The cumulative emissions associated with aluminum use in PV systems are projected to reach 3534 Mt CO<sub>2</sub>eq from 2020 to 2050, highlighting the urgent need for decarbonization in aluminum production. The study emphasizes the critical importance of developing a closed-loop aluminum recycling system for PV components to form a circular economy, which could reduce primary aluminum demand and associated emissions. By adopting a multi-faceted approach, including improvements in technology, materials, and recycling processes, the PV industry can mitigate its environmental impact and support the global transition towards sustainable energy.

# Contents

1	Intr	roduction	1
	1.1	Photovoltaic system demand in the future	1
	1.2	Aluminum consumption in photovoltaic systems	2
		1.2.1 Aluminum consumption in module frame	3
		1.2.2 Aluminum consumption in mounting structure	4
		1.2.3 Aluminum consumption in inverters	5
	1.3	Aluminum production	6
		1.3.1 Primary aluminum production	6
		1.3.2 Secondary aluminum production	6
	1.4	Literature review	8
		1.4.1 Literature on Aluminum consumption in photovoltaic systems	8
		1.4.2 Literature on environmental impacts of Aluminum production	9
	1.5	Research question	10
	1.6	Research goal	10
<b>2</b>	$\operatorname{Res}$	search Methodology	11
	2.1	Research scope	11
	2.2	Research model	12
		2.2.1 Photovoltaic deployment and market mix of components	14
		2.2.2 Photovoltaic components flow calculation	16
		2.2.3 Aluminum flow calculation	18
		2.2.4 Global warming potential calculation	20
	2.3	Scenario settings	22
		2.3.1 Factors in consideration	22
		2.3.2 Estimations on photovoltaic efficiency	23
		2.3.3 Estimations on aluminum intensity	23
		2.3.4 Estimations on lifetime of components	25
		2.3.5 Estimations on aluminum recycling rate	25
		2.3.6 Scenario summary	25
	2.4	Validation	27
3	Res	sult and Discussion	28
	3.1	Cumulative aluminum demand	28
	3.2	Annual aluminum demand	31
	3.3	Aluminum recycling potential	35
	3.4	Aluminum Stock of Global Photovoltaic system	37
	3.5	Global warming potential	40

4	General Discussion			43	
4.1 Significance of key factors					
4.1.1 Impact of photovoltaic installed capacity on aluminum de					
		4.1.2	Impact of emission intensity of aluminum production on total		
			GWP	44	
		4.1.3	Challenges and implications for aluminum decarbonization	45	
	4.2	Circula	ar economy potential of aluminum in photovoltaic systems	45	
		4.2.1	Importance of recycling policies and collection efficiency	45	
		4.2.2	Attempts on modeling a circular photovoltaic system	46	
		4.2.3	Economic and technical barriers to photovoltaic component		
			reuse	46	
<b>5</b>	Con	clusior	1	<b>48</b>	

# List of Figures

1.1	$PV module structure [14] \dots \dots$	3
1.2	PV mounting structure [22]	4
1.3	The aluminum enclosure of inverter $[24]$	5
2.1	Diagram of the flow of aluminum in PV system	13
2.2	Calculation model framework	14
2.3	Expected PV deployment under broad electrification scenario	15
2.4	Cumulative aluminum demand in validation scenario with similar as-	
	sumptions from Lennon's study.	27
3.1	Cumulative aluminum demand under different scenarios	30
3.2	Installation area of PV system under baseline scenario and Eff $LR7.9$	
	scenario.	31
3.3	Annual aluminum demand under different scenarios	34
3.4	Primary aluminum demand in 2050	35
3.5	Aluminum outflow and secondary Aluminum inflow under different	
	scenarios.	37
3.6	Annual aluminum stock under different scenarios	39
3.7	Annual Global Warming Potential under different scenarios	41
3.8	Cumulative global warming potential of scenarios (primary Al: 9.31	
	kg CO <sub>2</sub> eq/kg, secondary Al: 0.849 kg CO <sub>2</sub> eq/kg)	42
4.1	Cumulative Global Warming potential of scenarios with initial emis-	
	sion intensity changed (primary Al: $14.5 \text{ kg CO}_2 \text{eq/kg}$ , secondary Al:	
	$0.93 \text{ kg CO}_2 \text{eq/kg}$	44

# List of Tables

2.1	Market share of PV components	16
2.2	The conservative assumptions on aluminum intensity of PV components	24
2.3	The optimistic assumptions on aluminum intensity of PV components.	25
2.4	Parameters used in Baseline scenario	26
2.5	Scenario settings	26
3.1	Average aluminum recycling rate and net outflow in scenarios from	
	2020 to 2050	37
3.2	Average aluminum CPP of in-use PV systems in 2050	40

# Chapter 1

### Introduction

This chapter provides an introduction to the background of the study and provides a basis for the subsequent interpretation of the methodology. Through the content of this chapter, the reader will be able to understand the reality on which the research is based, and thus understand the logic and purpose of the research. The future development prospects of photovoltaic(PV) technology are introduced in section 1.1. Section 1.2 shows the general situation of aluminum consumption in PV systems. In section 1.3, the production of aluminum is introduced. Section 1.4 provides a literature review on aluminum demand of PV systems and the production of aluminum. The research questions of this study are listed in section 1.5. Finally, the purpose of the study is demonstrated in section 1.6.

#### 1.1 Photovoltaic system demand in the future

The global energy landscape is undergoing a significant transformation, with solar PV playing a pivotal role in this transition. In 2022, the cumulative installed capacity of PV systems surpassed 1 TW for the first time. In this year, although PV power generation accounted for just 4.5% of the global electricity production, the newly installed PV capacity accounted for 56% of the global electricity generating capacity added [1]. By the end of 2023, the cumulative installed capacity of PV systems reached 1.4 TW, with 345.5 GW installed in 2023 [2]. The significant growth has positioned PV energy as the leading renewable energy technology in terms of installed capacity.

Considering the technological advancements, environmental considerations, especially the significant reduction in the cost of PV technology leads us to believe that this growth trend will continue. In the global energy transition pathway proposed by Bogdanov et al. in 2021, which includes broad electrification of end-use sectors such as transportation and heating, the installed capacity of PV systems is projected to reach 63.4 TW by 2050. These PV systems would generate 104 PWh of electricity, accounting for 69% of global electricity production at that time [3].

#### 1.2 Aluminum consumption in photovoltaic systems

The main components of the PV system are PV modules, mounting systems, inverters and power distribution equipment. Off-grid PV systems also need to be equipped with energy storage systems, while grid-connected PV systems have additional grid connection equipment. In PV systems, aluminum is mainly used in the manufacture of frames for PV modules, mounting systems and enclosure for inverters. According to Bödeker et al.[4], 72% of the aluminum used in the PV industry is consumed in construction and mounting facilities, with panel frames and inverters consuming 22% and 6%, respectively. In fact, solar cells also contain small amounts of aluminum, inverters may use aluminum heat sinks, while aluminum cables are also used in some power transmission. These sectors account for a very small proportion of the total aluminum consumption of PV system. Moreover, the values can vary greatly depending on the PV cell type and the design of inverter. In particular, the aluminium consumption of the system still depends on the mounting structure and frame employed, rather than the cell. Therefore, the study tends not to take the cell's aluminum consumption into account, so as to avoid an overly complex classification of photovoltaic systems. Module frames, mounting structures, and inverters are the major sources of aluminum consumption. Despite their significance, only few research focused on them. Consequently, this study aims to focus on these critical aspects.

The aluminum used in PV systems is primarily aluminum alloy, with the most commonly used types being 5754, 6063, 5052, and 6061 alloys [5]. Alloy 5754, 6063, 5052 are mainly used for the frames and supports of PV modules, while the last one is commonly used for the casing of inverters [6]. Alloy 5754 and 5052 primarily consist of aluminum with magnesium as the main alloying element, while the other two alloys contain magnesium and silicon as their primary alloying elements. The aluminum content in these alloys typically ranges from 95% to 99% [7, 8, 9].

Alloy 5754 offers excellent corrosion resistance, making it suitable for long-term outdoor use in PV modules [10]. It provides sufficient structural support while maintaining a lightweight profile, facilitating easier installation and transportation. Its good machinability and weldability allow it to be manufactured into various complex frame shapes. Alloy 6063 has slightly lower strength and corrosion resistance compared to 5754, but it excels in extrusion performance, making it easy to extrude into profiles with complex cross-sections [8]. This makes it well-suited for manufacturing frames and supports. Its good thermal conductivity also aids in the heat dissipation of PV modules. Similarly, alloy 5052 is suitable for module frame due to its thermal conductivity and durability [11]. Alloy 6061 is characterized by its high strength and excellent thermal conductivity, making it suitable for use as the material for inverter casings [6]. These aluminum alloys play crucial roles in enhancing the durability, structural integrity, and performance efficiency of PV systems, ensuring they meet the demanding requirements of outdoor solar installations [12].

#### 1.2.1 Aluminum consumption in module frame

At present, the majority of PV modules are framed to safeguard the edges of the glass and provide mounting points for the modules. Aluminum's potential for indefinite recycling without degradation of its properties makes it an environmentally friendly choice for PV module frames. Aluminum is present in the frames of PV modules in the form of alloys, such as AlMg3. The specific choice of aluminum alloy, such as A5052 or A6063-T6, is determined based on the desired mechanical and chemical properties for the frame [13].



Figure 1.1: PV module structure [14]

Although aluminum remains the predominant choice due to its favorable properties such as light weight, high strength, and corrosion resistance [15], there are other choices for the material of PV module frames. In some cases, steel is used for PV module frames, especially in applications where higher strength is required or cost considerations make steel a more viable option. For floating photovoltaic (FPV) systems, high-density polyethylene (HDPE) can be used due to its durability and buoyancy [15]. It is clear that aluminum alloys dominate the module frame market. The use of steel and HDPE is niche, catering to specific applications. Base on the market status, only aluminum module frame is discussed in this research.

From the perspective of aluminum savings, frameless modules represent a significant innovation in the PV industry. Frameless modules eliminate the need for aluminum frames, which has been shown to reduce the life-cycle global-warming potential of PV modules by 12% [16]. This design not only reduces material demand but also aligns with the growing emphasis on sustainable and eco-friendly energy solutions. As of recent data, frameless modules accounted for a small but growing segment of the market, with a 6% share in 2018 [17]. However, the transition to frameless modules faces challenges. These include ensuring the durability and longevity of modules without the structural support of frames and overcoming market inertia towards traditional framed designs. The ITRPV actually reduced its predicted uptake of frameless modules in its 2021 report compared with previous years, suggesting a reduced confidence in the transition to frameless modules [18].

In fact, after years of practical application, frameless double-glass modules and

rubber snap frames have phased out of the market. Frameless double-glass modules aimed to improve mechanical strength by using double-glazed glass, theoretically eliminating the need for an aluminum alloy frame [19]. However, challenges arose during real-world operations. Uneven lamination stress, mechanical stress, and thermal stress at convergence points often led to frameless double-glass modules bending, deforming, and developing hidden cracks in cells or even glass breakage [20]. These issues resulted in revenue loss for PV power stations despite promising laboratory test results.

Similarly, rubber snap frames, structurally resembling frameless double-glass modules, faced controversy due to component deformation issues [21]. Moreover, their organic rubber plastic frame struggled to match the 20-25 year service life of standard PV modules, exhibiting poor environmental friendliness and significant environmental pollution throughout their life cycle. These factors conflict with green and sustainable development principles.

#### 1.2.2 Aluminum consumption in mounting structure

The mounting system in PV systems refers to the structures that support and mount solar panels, typically made from aluminum in various shapes and forms such as brackets, rails, and connectors. Aluminum is primarily used in PV systems as the main material for support structures, such as the main components of mounting brackets and rail systems.



Figure 1.2: PV mounting structure [22]

Aluminum is chosen for PV mounting systems due to several advantageous characteristics: firstly, it exhibits excellent corrosion resistance, capable of withstanding outdoor conditions including moisture and oxidation. Secondly, its lightweight nature facilitates easier handling and installation, reducing structural loads on buildings. Additionally, aluminum is highly workable and ductile, allowing for the manufacture of complex components to meet diverse installation requirements.

Recent advancements in research have focused on reducing aluminum consumption in installation systems while maintaining stability and reliability. Optimization of designs and manufacturing processes has enabled researchers to minimize the amount of aluminum used. By optimizing the design of support structures, researchers have been able to reduce the amount of aluminum required without compromising stability. This includes enhancing the strength of critical connection points and improving overall structural designs [23].

Apart from aluminum, there are alternative materials suitable for PV installation systems, each with specific advantages in lifetime. For instance, magnesium alloys are preferred in cold climates due to their high strength-to-weight ratio. Stainless steel is favored for its excellent corrosion resistance in marine environments. Polymer composites, on the other hand, are gaining attention for their UV resistance and lightweight properties. However, these technologies have not yet been commercialized due to their high cost [15]. At present, the common material of PV support system in the market is aluminum or stainless steel. Especially for ground-mounted PV installations, galvanized steel structures are often preferred due to cost considerations, though aluminum's lower shipping costs and ease of assembly could make it a viable option for large-scale installations as well.

#### **1.2.3** Aluminum consumption in inverters

The composition of inverters includes a variety of materials, with aluminum accounting for a significant portion. Although aluminum is not used in the internal electronic components, it is commonly employed in the casing or enclosure of inverters [4]. The aluminum casing acts as a heat sink, dissipating the heat generated during the inverter's operation, which is crucial for maintaining efficiency and prolonging the inverter's life. The durable and corrosion-resistant nature of aluminum also protects the inverter from environmental factors, further contributing to a longer service life.



Figure 1.3: The aluminum enclosure of inverter [24]

The selection of aluminum over other materials, such as steel, is primarily due to its lighter weight, higher strength, and enhanced corrosion resistance, which is achieved through the formation of a thin oxide layer. These properties make aluminum an ideal choice for PV systems, ensuring that the systems are not only efficient but also durable and capable of withstanding various environmental conditions.

#### 1.3 Aluminum production

#### 1.3.1 Primary aluminum production

While aluminum is a highly versatile and recyclable metal, primary aluminium production is an energy-intensive process [25]. A typical primary aluminum production consists of three processes:Bauxite mining, Alumina Refining and Aluminum smelting[26]. Alumina Refining transforms the bauxite into aluminum oxide, usually the Bayer process is used.Aluminum smelting converts aluminum oxide into aluminum via electrolysis (Hall-Héroult). This is the most energy intensive process and most emission intensive process.

Decarbonizing electricity and reducing direct emissions are two key approaches to mitigate the carbon footprint of primary aluminum production. In particular, electricity-related emissions dominate the 75% of sectoral emissions that smelting represents [27]. This is the source with the greatest variation across the industry (depending on the smelter power mix) - historically dominated by hydropower, but now increasingly by coal and gas combustion [28]. The accelerated deployment of Carbon Capture, Utilization, and Storage (CCUS) in the primary aluminum production process is equally important.[29].

Another potential approach to reducing greenhouse gas emissions in primary aluminum production is the elimination of direct emissions from the electrolysis process. Notably, emissions reduced through this pathway account for approximately 15% of the industry's total global emissions [27]. Feasible technological changes to achieve this include replacing carbon anodes with inert anodes in the smelting process, utilizing hydrogen combustion, or using renewable energy technologies like solar thermal to replace fossil fuels for heat and steam generation [30, 27].

#### 1.3.2 Secondary aluminum production

Secondary aluminum refers to aluminum recycled from scrap, the production process includes scrap collection and sorting, melting and refining. Aluminum scrap is collected and sorted to separate it from other materials, then be melted in furnaces and refined to remove impurities. The refined aluminum is then cast into forms suitable for further use. Secondary aluminum production uses significantly less energy compared to primary production, making it a more environmentally friendly option [31].

Using recycled aluminum production to replace part of primary aluminum production can reduce the consumption of alumina and alleviate the shortage of aluminum. The average energy consumption for primary aluminum production is 13-17 kWh/kg [32], while the energy demand for recycling of aluminum product is just about 5% compare to it [33]. However, Padamata et al.[34] reveals that it generates high volumes of environmentally hazardous salt slag, the problem needs to be considered in recycled aluminum production. It also faces challenges related to the quality and variety of scrap available, which can affect the efficiency and output of the recycling process [35].

#### Recycling of aluminum in photovoltaic systems

The recycling of aluminum does not degrade its properties, which means it can be recycled indefinitely [36]. However, the recycling of aluminium alloys can be more complicated [37]. Although most PV module frames use the aluminium 5754 alloy (AlMg3), 6000 series (with Mg and Si) can also be used. Whilst it is straightforward to use End of Life (EoL) frames of both series to remanufacture 6000 series frames, use of 6000 series material to manufacture 5000 series frames is more expensive and requires more complex separation and analysis technology [5]. Recycling aluminium frames has the highest economic benefit, at approximately \$2.7/m2 module, and recycling aluminium frames can reduce the life-cycle global-warming potential (kg CO2-eq) of PV modules by 12% [16].

In the recycling facilities, discarded PV systems are dismantled, and the aluminum frames and supports are separated from other components. After this, there are two pathways for recycling the aluminum. One pathway involves sending the discarded aluminum to a smelting furnace for melting [38]. During the smelting process, temperature control and the addition of appropriate alloying elements are necessary to ensure the quality of the final product. The molten aluminum is then cast into new ingots, which can be further processed into new aluminum components for use in new systems. This pathway is suitable for aluminum parts that have significant wear and environmental corrosion. The other pathway involves cleaning, repairing, and reprocessing the discarded components (such as re-drilling, cutting, and straightening) before they are used in new PV systems [39, 40]. This pathway is suitable for aluminum parts that are in relatively good physical condition and structurally intact.

Over the past few years, the PV industry has rapidly expanded, and most PV equipment is still in use [41]. By the end of 2016, the total global photovoltaic (PV) waste amounted to 250,000 metric tonnes and is anticipated to grow significantly in the future [42]. As a result, effective EoL management strategies for PV modules need to be developed. Currently, the majority of EoL modules are disposed of in landfills, largely because recycling processes for PV modules are not yet economically viable and regulations in many countries remain underdeveloped [43].

In other aluminum intensive industries, such as window and door frames manufacturing, most discarded aluminum is recycled through remelting [44]. In PV systems, the lifetime of components typically depends on the solar cells. Some PV modules that have reached the end of their lifetime may have aluminum frames suitable for direct reprocessing. Mounting systems might also be in good condition but need reconfiguration due to the replacement of different PV modules [41]. Therefore, both recycling pathways can be applied to aluminum waste from PV systems. The direct reprocessing pathway eliminates the smelting step, reducing environmental impact, but it is currently more costly [45]. Manufacturers, considering economic factors, usually opt for the remelting method to recycle aluminum.

#### 1.4 Literature review

# 1.4.1 Literature on Aluminum consumption in photovoltaic systems

A PV system contains PV modules, mounting structure, inverter, storage system and other components like cables, connectors. The main components of a typical PV system, except the panels, are defined as the "balance of system" (BOS) [46]. Aluminum is a fundamental component in PV systems, employed in various components such as mounting structure, frames, supports, and electrical connections. With the rapid expansion of the PV industry, it can be predicted that the demand for aluminum will increase greatly. Several studies have noted this potential problem and have calculated and predicted aluminum consumption in PV systems. This section explores recent literature on the quantity and patterns of aluminum consumption in PV systems.

Lennon et al.[18] predicted that growth to 60 TW of PV could require up to 486 Mt of aluminium by 2050. The CPP (Cost Per Power) is 8.1 Mt/TW, where the cost means the aluminum consumption in weight. They obtained the global capacity and added annual capacity from ITRPV's broad electrification scenario and its path towards a net zero emission economy in 2050. They assumed the PV market comprises rooftop and utility-scale systems, and only rooftop installations use aluminium in their mounting. The module efficiencies are predicted to increase from 20.5% in 2020 to 21.9% in 2030, and keep the same rate from 2030 to 2050. The size of the modules are predicted to be  $2.5 m^2$  and  $2.0 m^2$  for utility-scale modules and rooftop modules.

Underwood et al. [47] used a learning Curve for PV toward net-Zero emissions by 2050 to estimate the CPP of metals in PV systems. Aluminum consumption in the PV industry is primarily from module frames, the inverter, and mounting. The total aluminum CPP varies significantly depending on whether the array is rooftop (13.6–22.6 Mt/TW) or ground-mounted (6.5–9.7 Mt/TW). Aluminum usage for inverters is similar between roof-top and utility systems, around 1–2.75 Mt/TW, depending on size. It is noted that these values are significantly higher than older inverters before 2004, which relied more heavily on steel. Due to aluminum's lower density, roof-top consumption is heavily dominated by aluminum mounting (7.5–13.7 Mt/TW). Ground-mounted systems however typically use steel, due to its durability and low cost, without weight concerns. Such a value is within range for a roof-top PV system with aluminum mounting, but substantially higher than that of utilityscale systems. The aluminum consumption at the cell level is insignificant.

The World Bank study[26] assumed a static aluminum consumption of 186 Mt, which is based on the REmap scenario of 8.5 TW. The CPP is 22 Mt/TW. It used data from IEA Energy Technology Perspectives report 2016 and 2017 and the International Renewable Energy Agency's (IRENA) 2019 Global Energy Transformation: A Roadmap to 2050, to identify the amount of minerals needed.

#### 1.4.2 Literature on environmental impacts of Aluminum production

The primary production of aluminum, which includes bauxite mining, alumina refining, and aluminum smelting, is responsible for significant environmental burdens. Key environmental impacts include high energy consumption, greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, and solid waste generation [27]. For instance, the electrolysis process in aluminum smelting is a major contributor to environmental burdens, particularly when powered by fossil fuels like coal and natural gas [48, 49].

Ma et al.[50] compared Pedersen and Bayer processes using life cycle assessment. The results showed that Bayer process has the best performance for climate change, about 30% reduction compared to the Pedersen process, while the Pedersen has benefits for mineral scarcity –mainly attributable to the coproduction of pig iron.

Saevarsdottir et al.[30] supposed that the energy consumption for all melters should be reduced, particularly for those with electricity from fossil fuels. Besides that, better annode effect control, shorter alumina underfeeding periods and higher and more uniform average alumina concentrations in the electrolyte contribute to the mitigation of PEC emission intensity.

Balomenos et al.[51] described the sustainable development routes for Bayer process and Hall-Héroult process. The utilization of red mud waste as industrial feedstock for pig iron and mineral wool production can significantly increase the total exergy efficiency of the Bayer process, and eliminate the solid wastes. The high energy and exergy cost of Hall-Héroult process is related primarily to the cost of electricity generation. Therefore, an effective emission reduction strategy is to use renewable energy to replace fossil energy power generation.

Recycling aluminum significantly reduces environmental impacts compared to primary production. The energy required to produce recycled aluminum is only 5% of that needed for primary aluminum, and recycling can save more than 94% of the potential impacts related to global warming and fossil fuel depletion [52].

#### 1.5 Research question

Aluminum is a metal resource with a high emission intensity during its production process. In previous material flow analyses of PV systems, aluminum has been identified as one of the most consumed material [53]. Existing research highlights the significant demand for aluminum driven by the rapid expansion of PV systems [18, 41]; however, these studies often rely on simplified assumptions, without conducting sensitivity analyses on key parameters or discussing potential mitigation strategies. The demand for aluminum in PV systems is influenced by various factors, including system capacity, components type, and installation area. From a global perspective, factors such as the total capacity of PV systems, average PV efficiency, material intensity of PV devices, and recycling rates of both components and materials, collectively determine the aluminum demand for global PV systems. This study aims to explore the following questions by applying different assumptions to the material flow models of PV system components and the aluminum they contain:

a) By 2050, what will be the global aluminum demand for PV systems?b) What factors influence aluminum demand in PV systems?

c) What is the potential for reducing aluminum demand in PV systems?

d) What are the greenhouse gas emissions of producing the aluminum needed in PV systems?

#### 1.6 Research goal

The goal of this study is to estimate future material demand and associated greenhouse gas emissions of aluminum used in PV systems up to 2050, so that provide information and reference for research on the material flow analysis and global warming potential calculation of PV systems. Multiple scenarios was built for analysing the impact of four key parameters (PV efficiency, material intensity, components' lifetime and Al recycling rate) on the results. The estimation built six scenarios, including a baseline scenario, four optimistic scenarios and a combination scenario. In each optimistic scenario, the conservative assumption of one of the four key parameters is replaced by an optimistic one, so that the mitigation potential brought by this parameter could be discussed. The combination scenario applies optimistic assumptions on all of the four key parameters. Its results shows the comprehensive potential on mitigating the aluminum demand and associated environmental impacts in global PV systems.

# Chapter 2

### **Research Methodology**

This chapter is an explanation of the methodology of the study. This study focuses on the material use and associated environmental impact of aluminum in PV systems. Material flow analysis (MFA), sometimes referred to as substance flow analysis [54], is used to observe the aluminum flow. The environmental impact is calculated base on the aluminum flow and emission intensity. The research scope is introduced in section 2.1. The model and calculation are detailed explained in section 2.2. This study use multiple scenarios for aluminum demand projection, the different assumption used as well as the data source are showed in section 2.3. The validation of model is shown in section 2.4

#### 2.1 Research scope

#### Time scope

The study period spans from 2020 to 2050. The Paris Agreement aims to limit the increase in global average temperature to well below 2°C above pre-industrial levels and pursue efforts to limit it to 1.5°C. Scientists believe that to achieve this goal, the world must reach net-zero emissions by 2050, making this year a crucial milestone for global energy transition. The starting point of 2020 was chosen because around this time, PV systems began to be deployed on a large scale. Moreover, combined the historical data from 2020 to 2024 with the learning rate (LR), this study is able to make assumptions about future changes in key parameters.

#### System scope

PV systems can be categorized into various types based on the technology used, scale, and application scenario. To study the flow of aluminum within PV systems, special attention needs to be given to the installation structures. According to the installation systems used, PV systems can be divided into ground-mounted PV systems, rooftop PV systems, building-integrated photovoltaic systems (BIPV), and floating PV systems.

Ground-mounted PV systems require stable foundations and supports on the ground, leading to higher aluminum usage compared to rooftop PV systems. Some tracking systems also increase aluminum consumption due to their mechanical and control components. For ground-mounted systems, alternative materials like stainless steel are often chosen over aluminum for cost control, despite being heavier, because of their higher strength and durability. Stainless steel is a better choice for PV systems in high wind pressure or extreme climate conditions.

Rooftop PV systems are divided into slanted-roof and flat-roof PV systems. Slanted-roof PV systems leverage the roof's angle, directly mounting PV modules onto the roof. However, the diverse angles and structures of slanted roofs usually require customized mounting systems. These complex installation systems require more connectors, fasteners, and reinforcement components, which increase aluminum consumption. In contrast, flat-roof PV systems have simpler mounting structures, generally needing only adjustable supports to set the angle of the PV modules. The standardized bracket design reduces aluminum usage.

BIPV systems incorporate PV modules as part of the building materials, integrating them directly into roofs, walls, or windows. Therefore, the aluminum consumption of BIPV systems should be considered part of the building material consumption and is not included in this study.

Floating PV systems use floats and connectors to create a stable platform on the water surface, with mounts used to secure PV modules on the floats, typically using aluminum alloys or stainless steel. Since floating PV technology is still niche with a low degree of market penetration and lacks comprehensive market share data, it is not included in this study.

As introduced in section 1.2, module frames, mounting structures and inverter enclosures are the main body of aluminum consumption in PV systems. Thus, the subjects of the study are Aluminium used in mounting structure, module frame and inverter enclosure of open-ground PV systems and roof-top PV systems.

#### 2.2 Research model

Figure 2.1 illustrates the flow of aluminum within global PV systems. Aluminum enters the system through the installation of PV components such as frames. The aluminum contained in operational PV systems constitutes the stock. Each year, as some PV components deployed in previous years reach the end of their lifetime, the aluminum they contain enters the discard pool. Depending on the recycling rate for that year, some of the discarded PV components are processed into the recycling system, where the aluminum is re-melted. The re-melted aluminum is then used in new PV components, re-entering the system within the year. All of the re-melted aluminum are assumed to used in PV system, while no secondary aluminum from other resources comes to the system. The total aluminum inflow for a given year, minus the inflow of secondary aluminum, represents the demand for primary aluminum for that year.



Figure 2.1: Diagram of the flow of aluminum in PV system

Figure 2.2 shows a stepwise calculation scheme of this study. The blue box contains the data inputs, the yellow box contains the results related to aluminum demand, and the orange box contains the results related to environmental impact. The white box includes the information and parameters necessary for the calculations, among which the four highlighted parameters were used for scenario analysis in this study.

The first step of this study is to obtain the expected PV installation in each year from 2020 to 2050. Using data on PV installation and the market shares of different types of PV systems, the annual demand for various PV components can be determined. Subsequently, by analyzing the flow of PV components as products within the system and considering the aluminum intensity of these components, now it is sufficient to calculate the inflow, stock, and outflow of aluminum in the system. It is important to note that the aluminum intensity for inverters is measured in kg/kWp, meaning the aluminum consumption is directly related to the installed capacity. In contrast, the aluminum intensity for module frames and mounting systems is measured in  $kg/m^2$ , meaning the aluminum consumption is related to the installation area. Therefore, for module frames and mounting systems, it is necessary to first convert the capacity cohorts into area cohorts using the PV efficiency. Finally, by applying the annual aluminum outflow and the recycling rate, the inflow of secondary aluminum and primary aluminum can be estimated. Combining the aluminum demand with emission intensity of aluminum production, the global warming potential could be estimated.



Figure 2.2: Calculation model framework

#### 2.2.1 Photovoltaic deployment and market mix of components

The broad electrification scenario indicates that the total capacity of installed PV needs to be at least 60 TWp by 2050 with annual installations of 4.5 TWp being required [3, 55]. This ambitious target is projected because of the extremely low cost of PV generated electricity compared to all other energy sources. A logistic curve was fitted to the given points in the scenario and was used as the PV installation curve until 2050, as shown in figure 2.3. Logistic growth curves were applied in previous studies to estimate PV deployment [56]. The annual PV shipments are calculated with an assumed average lifetime of 25 years for all PV systems.



Figure 2.3: Expected PV deployment under broad electrification scenario.

In section 2.1, the classification of PV systems is introduced. Lennon et al. [18]applied a 50% market share for rooftop PV systems and the remaining 50% for utility-scale PV systems globally in their study. We follow this assumption. Assuming all utility-scale PV systems use open-ground mounting systems, they can be divided into two categories based on the primary materials used: aluminum and stainless steel. The market shares of different mounting systems are relatively complex. We consulted the Solar Mounting System Directory [57] and compiled statistics based on detailed product information. The directory lists 812 open-ground mounting systems, with 220 explicitly stating that their support structures are made of aluminum, while 231 use stainless steel. Based on this data, We assumed that 48.8% of the utility-scale PV systems use aluminum open-ground mounting systems while stainless steel open-ground mounting systems account for 51.2%.

It's worth noting that some products indicate they use both stainless steel and aluminum, which is a common practice. Mounting systems include many small components besides the support structure; even within the support structure, there are distinctions between rails and supports. Different components have different strength requirements and therefore use different materials. However, different product designs use different materials, and related information is difficult to obtain and compile. From a global PV system perspective, making detailed and accurate assumptions about material consumption is challenging. Therefore, although it is an interesting topic, this study only discusses mounting systems with only one material.

Rooftop PV systems use either flat-roof mounting systems or slanted-roof mounting systems. Similarly, based on the Solar Mounting System Directory's statistics, there are 640 flat-roof mounting systems and 738 slanted-roof mounting systems listed [57]. Thus, this study assumes that within rooftop PV systems, the share of flat-roof mounting systems is 46.4%, while slanted-roof mounting systems account for 53.6%. Regarding the market share of PV modules with different frame types, ITRPV's results 2021 reported reports that frameless modules accounted for 7% of the market in 2020. Base on the situation illustrated in section 1.2.1, We applied a constant share of frameless module from 2020 to 2050. Both open-ground mounting systems and rooftop mounting systems are designed to accommodate both framed and frameless PV modules. Thus the share of frameless module is 7% in each type of PV system.Table 2.1 shows the market shares of components in the global PV market.

Table 2.1: Market share of P	V components			
Type	Market share			
Modules				
frameless	7%			
Al framed	93%			
Mounting system	ns			
open-ground(made of Al)	24.4%			
open-ground(made of steel)	25.6%			
flat-roof	23.2%			
slanted-roof	26.8%			
Inverters				
utility-scale	50%			
residential	50%			

#### 2.2.2 Photovoltaic components flow calculation

Given the projected deployment of PV systems and market mix of components, we can derive the annual flow of components using the principle of material balance and the distribution of component losses. One thing should be noted is that the calculation of inverters flow and the calculation of mounting structures and modules flow is different, because the demand for inverters in PV systems is usually measured in terms of capacity in unit of GWp, while the demand for modules and mounting structures is usually measured in area (this study does not assume the size of a single product and therefore cannot calculate the number of products required) in unit of  $m^2$ , so the calculation of PV components flow is divided into two categories.

#### Inverters flow calculation

The principle of material balance is represented by equation (2.1). We assume that the first year of the study period (2020) is the initial year for PV system installations, denoted as year 1, with the inflow of all components for that year representing the initial stock ( $C_{in,i}[1] = C_{stock,i}[1]$ ). Starting from the second year, some of the PV components that were deployed in previous years will reach their EoL and exit the system, as shown in equation (2.2b).

$$C_{in,i}[t] = C_{stock,i}[t] - C_{stock,i}[t-1] + C_{out,i}[t]$$
(2.1)

$$\begin{cases}
 0 & \text{for } t = 1 \\
 (2.2a)
 \end{aligned}$$

$$C_{out,i}[t] = \begin{cases} \sum_{t'=1}^{t-1} C_{out,i}[t,t'] & \text{for } t \ge 2 \end{cases}$$
(2.2b)

Where  $C_{in,i}[t]$  is the annual capacity inflow (demand) of component type i in year t, in the unit of GWp,  $C_{stock,i}[t]$  is the capacity stock of component type i at year t in the unit of GWp,  $C_{out,i}[t]$  is the annual capacity outflow of component type i in the unit of GWp, which represent the annual end-of-life components that were deployed in various years before year t. t'(t' < t) is the year in which the component was deployed.  $C_{out,i}[t, t']$  indicates the capacity of component type i which was deployed in year t' and reach the end of life in year t in the unit of GWp.

The lifetime losses reflect a random loss event in the components service life. In this research, the lifetime losses are modelled using a two-parameter Weibull lifetime probability distribution function as shown in equation (2.3) and is routinely applied in reliability and failure analysis, as conducted in current literature [41, 58, 59].

$$W_c(r) = 1 - exp\left(-\frac{r}{\beta}\right)^{\alpha}$$
(2.3)

$$C_{out,i}[t,t'] = C_{in,i}[t'] \times W_c\left(t-t'\right)$$

$$(2.4)$$

Where  $W_c(r)$  denotes the percentage discarded from a cohort after r years of use,  $W_c(t-t')$  presents the percentage discarded in year t of the deployment in year t',  $\alpha$  is a shape parameter controlling failure rate, and  $\beta$  is the mean lifetime of the cohort, which is the lifetime expectation of components in this study. We applied different assumed lifetimes to the various types of components, they can be found in section 2.3.4. We chose a conservative  $\alpha$  value of 2.49 as reported in the early loss scenario by IRENA and IEA-PVPS 2016 reports [60].

#### Modules and mounting structures flow calculation

The flow of one kind of module or mounting structure depending on the capacity of the PV systems appling them. With the equations used for inverters flow calculation, the flow of PV system appling component type i (i = module or mounting structure) could be calculated.

To calculate the aluminum flow in module frames and mounting structures, it is necessary to determine the annual installation area of these components, which directly influence the aluminum demand. After the calculation of the annual demand for PV capacity appling component type i in the unit of GWp, which refers to the peak power output of a PV system under standard test conditions (STC). The PV efficiency could be used to convert capacity cohorts into area cohorts, as formula (2.5) has shown.

$$A_i[t] = \frac{C_{in,i}[t] \times 10^9}{\eta[t] \times I_{STC}}$$

$$\tag{2.5}$$

Where  $A_i[t]$  is the installation area of component type i (i = frame or mounting structure) in year t in the unit of m<sup>2</sup>,  $\eta[t]$  is the PV efficiency in year t.  $I_{STC}$  is the irradiance level under STC in the unit of W/m<sup>2</sup>, its value is 1000 W/m<sup>2</sup>. We discuss two different scenario for PV efficiency, which is described in section 2.3.2.

#### 2.2.3 Aluminum flow calculation

Using the aluminum intensity for each component, the annual aluminum inflow, which is the annual aluminum demand, could be calculated. Three components in PV systems are considered in this model. For module frames, the annual aluminum demand calculation follows equation (2.6a). For mounting systems, the calculation follows equation (2.6b). The aluminum demand of frames and mountings depend on the installed PV area and their aluminum intensity. For inverters, the calculation follows equation (2.6c), the aluminum demand depend on the installed capacity and components' aluminum intensity.

$$\int \frac{A_i[t] \times AI_{i,frm}[t]}{10^9} \quad \text{for } i = frame \tag{2.6a}$$

$$M_{Al,in,i}[t] = \begin{cases} \frac{A_i[t] \times AI_{i,mtn}[t]}{10^9} & \text{for } i = mounting \end{cases}$$
(2.6b)

$$\left(\frac{C_{in,i}[t] \times AI_{i,inv}[t]}{1000} \quad \text{for } i = inverter \tag{2.6c}\right)$$

Where  $M_{Al,in,i}[t]$  is the mass of aluminum inflow of component type i in year t in the unit of mega tonne (Mt).  $AI_{i,frm}[t]$  is the aluminum intensity of component type i (frame) in year t in the unit of kg/m<sup>2</sup>.  $AI_{i,mtn}[t]$  is the aluminum intensity of component type i (mounting) in year t in the unit of kg/m<sup>2</sup>.  $AI_{i,inv}[t]$  is the aluminum intensity of component type i (inverter) in year t in the unit of kg/kWp. We applied different learning rates of the aluminum intensity mitigation, which is described in section 2.3.3.

With the principle of material balance and the distribution of component losses, the flow of aluminum in global PV system could be derived. The equation used are shown below. The parameter definitions are similar to those for capacity calculations.

$$u = \int_{t=1}^{0} \int_{t=1}^{t=1} (2.7a)$$

$$M_{Al,out,i}[t] = \begin{cases} \sum_{t'=1}^{i-1} M_{Al,out,i}[t,t'] & \text{for } t \ge 2 \end{cases}$$
(2.7b)

$$M_{Al,st,i}[t] = M_{Al,in,i}[t] + M_{Al,st,i}[t-1] - M_{Al,out,i}[t]$$
(2.8)

Where  $M_{Al,out,i}[t]$  is the mass of aluminum outflow of component type i in year t in the unit of Mt,  $M_{Al,st,i}[t]$  is the mass of aluminum stock of component type i in year t in the unit of Mt.

Recycling aluminum in PV systems is a significant concern. By refurbishing and reusing EoL components, we can greatly diminish the demand for manufacturing new parts, thus saving resources. Furthermore, extracting and re-melting aluminum from EoL components can further reduce the need for primary aluminum. Moreover, aluminum's secondary production requires only 5% of the energy required for primary production [61] and generates just 3–5% of the emissions from primary production [62, 63].

Two recycling pathways for the aluminum components are discussed in section 1.3.2. The pathways involving refurbishment and remanufacturing face cost-control challenges and have not yet been widely adopted. Previous studies have developed PV material flow models that consider the reuse of PV panels as secondary PV panels, and have calculated the impacts on material consumption and waste management [41]. In this study, we do not consider the recycling path where EoL PV components are refurbished for reuse. Instead, we assume that all the aluminum from the recycled components is separated and re-melted. Equation (2.9) is used to calculate this part of aluminum. knowing the quantity of secondary aluminum, we can calculate the demand for primary aluminum, and the flow of aluminum in global PV systems could be obtained.

$$M_{SA,in,i}[t] = M_{Al,out,i}[t] \times R[t] \times \delta$$
(2.9)

$$M_{PA,in}[t] = M_{Al,in}[t] - M_{SA,in}[t]$$
(2.10)

Where  $M_{SA,in,i}[t]$  is the mass of secondary aluminum inflow of component type i in year t in the unit of Mt,  $M_{PA,in,i}[t]$  is the mass of primary aluminum inflow of component type i in year t in the unit of Mt, R[t] is the recycling rate of aluminum in year t.  $\delta$  is the attrition rate of aluminum recycling.

The assumptions related to recycling rate is described in section 2.3.5. We assumed the remelting process typically incurs a loss of 3% of the aluminum ( $\delta = 0.97$ ). This loss rate can vary depending on the type of furnace used and the condition of the aluminum scrap. For instance, electric furnaces are generally more efficient and have lower metal loss rates, around 0.5% to 3%, compared to fossil-fuel-fired furnaces, which have a higher loss rate of about 5% to 8% [64, 65]. The loss primarily occurs due to oxidation and the formation of dross during the melting process [66].

The aluminum flow of the entire PV systems is the sum of that of all components, and the cumulative aluminum demand could be calculated by add up the annual demand from 2020 to 2050, as shown in equations below.

$$M_{Al,in}[t] = \sum_{i=1}^{n} M_{Al,in,i}[t]$$
(2.11)

$$M_{PA,in}[t] = \sum_{i=1}^{n} M_{PA,in,i}[t]$$
(2.12)

$$M_{SA,in}[t] = \sum_{i=1}^{n} M_{SA,in,i}[t]$$
(2.13)

$$M_{Al,st}[t] = \sum_{i=1}^{n} M_{Al,st,i}[t]$$
(2.14)

$$M_{Al,out}[t] = \sum_{i=1}^{n} M_{Al,out,i}[t]$$
(2.15)

$$M_{Al,in,cum} = \sum_{\substack{t=2020\\2050}}^{2050} M_{Al,in}[t]$$
(2.16)

$$M_{PA,in,cum} = \sum_{\substack{t=2020\\0000}}^{2000} M_{PA,in}[t]$$
(2.17)

$$M_{SA,in,cum} = \sum_{\substack{t=2020\\2050}}^{2050} M_{SA,in}[t]$$
(2.18)

$$M_{Al,out,cum} = \sum_{t=2020}^{2030} M_{Al,out}[t]$$
(2.19)

Where  $M_{Al,in}[t]$ ,  $M_{PA,in}[t]$ ,  $M_{SA,in}[t]$ ,  $M_{Al,st}[t]$  and  $M_{Al,out}[t]$  refer to the aluminum inflow, primary aluminum inflow, secondary aluminum inflow, aluminum stock and aluminum outflow of the entire PV systems in year t in the unit of Mt, respectively.  $M_{Al,in,cum}$ ,  $M_{PA,in,cum}$ ,  $M_{SA,in,cum}$  and  $M_{Al,out,cum}$  refer to the cumulative aluminum inflow (demand), cumulative primary aluminum inflow, cumulative secondary aluminum inflow and cumulative outflow of the entire PV systems from 2020 to 2050 in the unit of Mt.

#### 2.2.4 Global warming potential calculation

In last step we got the primary aluminum and secondary aluminum demand of PV systems in each year. By applying the emission intensity of the two aluminum production, the total global warming potential (GWP) could be calculated with the equation (2.20).

$$GWP[t] = EI_{PA}[t] \times M_{PA,in}[t] + EI_{SA}[t] \times M_{SA,in}[t]$$
(2.20)

$$GWP_{cum} = \sum_{t=2020}^{2050} GWP[t]$$
(2.21)

Where GWP[t] is the global warming potential of aluminum used in PV system in year t in the unit of Mt CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent (Mt CO<sub>2</sub>eq),  $EI_{PA}[t]$  is the emission intensity of primary aluminum production in year t in the unit of kg  $\text{CO}_2\text{eq/kg}$ ,  $EI_{SA}[t]$  is the emission intensity of secondary aluminum production in year t in the unit of kg  $\text{CO}_2\text{eq/kg}$ ,  $GWP_{cum}$  is the cumulative global warming potential of aluminum used in PV system from 2020 to 2050 in the unit of Mt  $\text{CO}_2\text{eq}$ .

Stolz et al. based on their updated life cycle inventories, calculated that the emission intensities of primary aluminum and secondary aluminum are 9.31 kg CO<sub>2</sub>eq/kg and 0.849 kg CO<sub>2</sub>eq/kg, respectively [67]. According to estimates by the International Aluminium Institute (IAI), by 2050, the world will still require 75 to 90 million tons of primary aluminum annually. To keep emissions within the industry's allocated carbon budget, the average emission intensity of primary aluminum needs to be reduced to 2.5 kg CO<sub>2</sub>eq/kg to align with the 'Beyond 2°C Scenario' (B2DS). The emission intensity of recycled aluminum should be reduced to 0.5 kg CO<sub>2</sub>eq/kg [27]. Therefore, this study assumes a linear reduction in the emission intensity of primary aluminum from 9.31 kg CO<sub>2</sub>eq/kg in 2020 to 2.5 kg CO<sub>2</sub>eq/kg in 2050, and for secondary aluminum, a reduction from 0.849 kg CO<sub>2</sub>eq/kg in 2020 to 0.5 kg CO<sub>2</sub>eq/kg in 2050.

#### 2.3 Scenario settings

#### 2.3.1 Factors in consideration

The study model indicates that within the given system scope, four main factors significantly impact aluminum consumption for PV systems: PV efficiency, aluminum intensity of components, component lifetime, and aluminum recycling rate. Higher PV efficiency means that less area is needed to meet the same capacity demand. Reducing the PV system area not only decreases land use but also reduces the number of required modules and the layout area of the installation system, thereby reducing overall aluminum consumption. Lower aluminum intensity in components means that less aluminum is required for the same capacity of PV systems. Longer component lifetime means that the components and the aluminum within them remain in the system for a longer period, thus reducing the demand for new components and aluminum. Increasing the aluminum recycling rate in PV systems can boost the inflow of secondary aluminum, thereby reducing the demand for primary aluminum.

This study uses scenario analysis to examine the impact of these factors. In the baseline scenario, relatively conservative assumptions are used for model parameters. Based on the baseline, more optimistic assumptions for the above four key factors are individually applied to create new scenarios. Thus, there will be four new scenarios, each adopting more optimistic model parameters in different aspects compared to the baseline scenario. By comparing their results with those of the baseline scenario, the impacts of these factors can be analyzed. Finally, one scenario will incorporate all optimistic model parameters, resulting in the least aluminum consumption. This scenario represents the most optimistic estimate of global aluminum consumption for PV systems in this study.

In fact, the total demand for global PV system capacity and the area of individual solar panels also impact aluminum consumption. A decrease in PV demand will inevitably reduce any investments related to PV systems. Larger solar panel areas mean that the same area of PV systems will consume less aluminum for frames and support structures. Specifically, larger PV panels have a smaller perimeter-to-area ratio, thus reducing the material required for frames and support structures. This study does not consider the impact of these two factors.

Firstly, with all other factors remaining constant, aluminum consumption is directly proportional to PV capacity. This effect is direct and significant, including it in the scenario analysis could overshadow other factors, making the analysis less effective. Secondly, in the context of energy transition, a decrease in demand for PV capacity implies an increase in demand for other energy products, which will undoubtedly lead to greater resource consumption and environmental impact elsewhere. The transfer of these resource inputs is difficult to study; therefore, this research assumes the same PV capacity demand across all scenarios, with specific assumptions detailed in section 2.2.1.

Lennon et al., in their prediction of future aluminum consumption for PV systems, used areas of  $1.8 \text{ m}^2$  and  $2.2 \text{ m}^2$  for rooftop and ground-mounted PV systems, respectively, assuming future area growth [18]. These parameters are based on

actual products. However, globally, PV module products vary widely, with sizes differing by manufacturer, model, and type. There is no sufficient reason to choose a fixed product size to represent global PV systems. Therefore, this study uses data in kg/m<sup>2</sup> to represent the aluminum intensity of PV components. This metric indicates the aluminum consumption per unit area of a module, thus avoiding the need to assume module area. Additionally, the reduction in aluminum intensity results from various technological advancements, including structural light-weighting and the development of larger module designs. Hence, in this study, the impact of changes in module area is incorporated into the change in aluminum intensity.

#### 2.3.2 Estimations on photovoltaic efficiency

The learning curve theory is widely used in current research on projecting the future trends [55, 47]. Learning Curve Theory is a concept used to understand how productivity and efficiency improve with experience over time [68]. The rapid increasing of PV deployment lead to the learning of PV technology, which result in an improvement of PV efficiency. We use a learning curve to reflect the result of learning, as shown in equation (2.22).

$$\eta_t = \alpha \times C_{st}[t]^{-\frac{\ln(1-LR)}{\ln(2)}} \tag{2.22}$$

Where  $\alpha$  is the prefactor,  $C_{st}[t]$  refers to the global PV stock (PV deployment) in year t in the unit of GWp, LR refers to the learning rate at which PV efficiency increases for every doubling of PV deployment.

Xu et al. built the technology development roadmap for silicon-based PV, which projected an average PV efficiency of 28.7% in 2050 [56]. With the formula above (equation (2.22)), we found that an average LR of 3.4% is needed to achieve that efficiency level in 2050.  $\alpha$  is calculated as 0.165 accordingly. We use this set of assumptions in the baseline scenario.

A more optimistic assumption about the pace of technological progress in PV systems is applied in improvement scenario. In this scenario, a higher learning rate of 7.9%, sourced from the 2021 ITRPV report, is used [55]. The  $\alpha$  is calculated as 0.099 accordingly. It is important to note that the PV efficiency from 2020 to 2024 remains consistent with the baseline scenario. These learning rates are applied to the assumed PV efficiency from 2024 to 2050.

#### 2.3.3 Estimations on aluminum intensity

The assumptions of components' aluminum intensity include the assumptions of initial aluminum intensity (2020 value) and the trends from 2020 to 2050. We applied  $3.98 \text{ kg/m}^2$  (open-ground mountings),  $2.52 \text{ kg/m}^2$  (flat-roof mountings),  $2.84 \text{ kg/m}^2$  (slanted-roof mountings), 0.52 kg/kWp (utility-scale inverters), 0.65 kg/kWp (residential inverters) as the initial aluminum intensity of components. These values are based on data from the ecoinvent database (version 3.10) [69]. For module frames, Lennon et al. used  $1.2 \text{ kg/m}^2$  as the initial module frames aluminum intensity in

their research, base on parameters of a 600 W Tina Vertex module [18]. This study follows this assumption.

Due to the learning of relative knowledge about PV components manufacturing, the material intensity (include aluminum intensity) keep deceasing, we use a learning curve to project the decreasing in the future, as shown in (2.23).

$$AI_{i,t} = \alpha \times C_{st}[t]^{\frac{\ln(1-LR)}{\ln(2)}}$$
(2.23)

Where  $AI_{i,t}$  is the aluminum intensity of component type i,  $\alpha$  is the prefactor. Regarding the future trend of aluminum consumption in PV system components, Lennon's study assumes that the aluminum consumption for PV rooftop mounting decreases from 2.84 kg/m<sup>2</sup> at a rate of 0.5% per year, reaching approximately 2.4 kg/m<sup>2</sup> by 2050 [18]. In our baseline scenario, the annual reduction rate of 0.5% is converted to a learning rate over cumulative installed capacity (2.6%). Under this learning rate, the aluminum consumption for slanted-roof mounting decreases from 2.84 kg/m<sup>2</sup> in 2020 to 2.4 kg/m<sup>2</sup> by 2050, consistent with the assumptions in Lennon's study. The learning rate of aluminum intensity is not distinguished among different components due to a lack of specific data. The  $\alpha$  is include in Table 2.2, which summarizes the conservative assumption made on aluminum intensity.

Table 2.2: The conservative assumptions on aluminum intensity of PV components

module frame $2.6\%$ $1.541$ $1.20 \text{ kg/m}^2$ $1.01 \text{ kg/m}^2$ open-ground mounting $2.6\%$ $5.110$ $3.98 \text{ kg/m}^2$ $3.36 \text{ kg/m}^2$ flat-roof mounting $2.6\%$ $3.235$ $2.52 \text{ kg/m}^2$ $2.13 \text{ kg/m}^2$ slanted-roof mounting $2.6\%$ $3.646$ $2.84 \text{ kg/m}^2$ $2.40 \text{ kg/m}^2$ utility-scale inverter $2.6\%$ $0.668$ $0.52 \text{ kg/kWp}$ $0.44 \text{ kg/kWp}$ residential inverter $2.6\%$ $0.835$ $0.65 \text{ kg/kWp}$ $0.55 \text{ kg/kWp}$	Components type	Learning rate	$\operatorname{Prefactor}(\alpha)$	Initial value	2050 value
open-ground mounting $2.6\%$ $5.110$ $3.98 \text{ kg/m}^2$ $3.36 \text{ kg/m}^2$ flat-roof mounting $2.6\%$ $3.235$ $2.52 \text{ kg/m}^2$ $2.13 \text{ kg/m}^2$ slanted-roof mounting $2.6\%$ $3.646$ $2.84 \text{ kg/m}^2$ $2.40 \text{ kg/m}^2$ utility-scale inverter $2.6\%$ $0.668$ $0.52 \text{ kg/kWp}$ $0.44 \text{ kg/kWp}$ residential inverter $2.6\%$ $0.835$ $0.65 \text{ kg/kWp}$ $0.55 \text{ kg/kWp}$	module frame	2.6%	1.541	$1.20 \text{ kg/m}^2$	$1.01 \text{ kg/m}^2$
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	open-ground mounting	2.6%	5.110	$3.98 \text{ kg/m}^2$	$3.36 \text{ kg/m}^2$
$\begin{array}{llllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllllll$	flat-roof mounting	2.6%	3.235	$2.52 \text{ kg/m}^2$	$2.13 \mathrm{~kg/m^2}$
utility-scale inverter $2.6\%$ $0.668$ $0.52 \text{ kg/kWp}$ $0.44 \text{ kg/kWp}$ residential inverter $2.6\%$ $0.835$ $0.65 \text{ kg/kWp}$ $0.55 \text{ kg/kWp}$	slanted-roof mounting	2.6%	3.646	$2.84 \text{ kg/m}^2$	$2.40 \text{ kg/m}^2$
residential inverter $2.6\%$ $0.835$ $0.65 \text{ kg/kWp}$ $0.55 \text{ kg/kWp}$	utility-scale inverter	2.6%	0.668	0.52  kg/kWp	0.44  kg/kWp
	residential inverter	2.6%	0.835	$0.65 \ \mathrm{kg/kWp}$	0.55  kg/kWp

In improvement scenario, an optimistic assumption about the pace of technological progress in Lightweight design of PV components (module frame, mounting structure, inverter enclosure) is applied. The more optimistic assumption about aluminium intensity is to increase the learning rate to 5.9%. Underwood assumed a learning rate over cumulative PV install capacity of 7.9% for each material cost per power (CPP) in PV system, including aluminum [47]. According to my assumption on PV efficiency (a learning rate of 3.4%), the calculated learning rate should be 5.9% for aluminum intensity to reach the learning rate of 10% for aluminum CPP. The  $\alpha$  for components are listed in the summary of the optimistic assumption as shown in Table 2.3.

Components type	Learning rate	$\operatorname{Prefactor}(\alpha)$	Initial value	2050 value
module frame	5.9%	2.130	$1.20 \text{ kg/m}^2$	$0.81 \text{ kg/m}^2$
open-ground mounting	5.9%	7.065	$3.98 \text{ kg/m}^2$	$2.69 \text{ kg/m}^2$
flat-roof mounting	5.9%	4.473	$2.52 \text{ kg/m}^2$	$1.70 \ {\rm kg/m^2}$
slanted-roof mounting	5.9%	5.041	$2.84 \text{ kg/m}^2$	$1.92 \text{ kg/m}^2$
utility-scale inverter	5.9%	0.923	0.52  kg/kWp	0.35  kg/kWp
residential inverter	5.9%	1.154	$0.65 \ \mathrm{kg/kWp}$	0.44  kg/kWp

Table 2.3: The optimistic assumptions on aluminum intensity of PV components.

#### 2.3.4 Estimations on lifetime of components

The typical lifetime of PV modules and mounting systems is generally about 25 to 30 years. This estimate considers the time during which the panels can produce energy efficiently before their performance declines significantly. Most solar panels come with warranties that guarantee performance for this duration, although they can still produce electricity beyond this period at reduced efficiency levels [70, 71, 72]. In contrast, inverters usually have a shorter lifetime of about 15 to 20 years. This discrepancy is due to the different operational and environmental stresses that inverters face compared to the relatively static PV panels [73].

In the baseline scenario, We assumed a lifetime of 25 years for both PV modules and mounting systems, and 15 years for inverters, regardless of type. In the lifetime improved scenario, the expected lifetime of each component is increased by 5 years.

#### 2.3.5 Estimations on aluminum recycling rate

The aluminum recycling rate in the building industry is approximately 85% [64], while in the automotive industry, it was 91% in 2017 [74]. The EoL aluminum's recycling rates are estimated at 34-63% [62, 75, 76, 77]. The recycle of PV components have large potential. Aluminum is one of the most easily recyclable materials in PV components. In previous research on PV recycling, aluminum is considered to be fully recyclable [78, 79, 80]. In this research, two estimations are made on aluminum recycling rate. The conservative estimate projects a linear increase from 34% [62] in 2020 to 75% [18] by 2050, while the more optimistic estimate anticipates a linear rise from 34% in 2020 to 99% by 2050.

#### 2.3.6 Scenario summary

Table 2.4 summarizes the parameters used in the baseline scenario. The data sources and assumptions are discussed earlier in this section. Table 2.5 outlines the changes made in each improved scenario relative to the baseline scenario and assigns a number to each scenario. In the results analysis, these numbers will be used to refer to the respective scenarios.

$\mathbf{T}$	D	1 •	D 11	•
1 a blo $1/1$	Paramotorg	ngod in	Recolino	COODORIO
1 a D E 2.4	I al ameters	useu m	Dasenne	scenario

Parameters	Value
The deployment of global PV systems (GW)	Increasing follows a logistic curves, reach to 63.4 TW in 2050 [56]
	Aluminum open-ground mounting 24.4%
Market mix of PV mounting structure	Steel open-ground mounting 25.6%
Market link of 1 V mounting structure	Aluminum flat-roof mounting 23.2%
	Aluminum slanted-roof mounting 26.8%
Market share of frameless module	7%
PV efficiency	21.1% in 2020 increases to $28.7%$ , learning rate (LR) $3.4%$
Frame Al intensity (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	$1.2 \text{ kg/m}^2$ in 2020 decreases to $1.01 \text{ kg/m}^2$ in 2050,LR 2.6%
Open-ground mounting Al intensity $(kg/m^2)$	$3.98 \text{ kg/m}^2$ in 2020 decreases to $3.36 \text{ kg/m}^2$ in 2050,LR 2.6%
Flat-roof mounting Al intensity (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	$2.52 \text{ kg/m}^2$ in 2020 decreases to $2.13 \text{ kg/m}^2$ in 2050,LR $2.6\%$
Slanted-roof mounting Al intensity $(kg/m^2)$	$2.84 \text{ kg/m}^2$ in 2020 decreases to 2.40 kg/m <sup>2</sup> in 2050,LR 2.6%
Utility-scale inverter Al intensity (kg/kWp)	$0.52~\mathrm{kg/kWp}$ in 2020 decreases to 0.44 kg/kWp in 2050, LR 2.6%
Residential inverter Al intensity (kg/kWp)	$0.65~\mathrm{kg/kWp}$ in 2020 decreases to 0.55 kg/kWp in 2050, LR $2.6\%$
lifetime of components	module and mounting structure 30 years
incenine of components	inverter 15 years
Recycling rate of aluminum	34% in 2020 linearly increases to $75%$ in $2050$
Emission intensity of primary aluminum production	$9.31 \text{ kg CO}_2$ eq/kg in 2020 linearly decreases to $2.5 \text{ kg CO}_2$ eq/kg in 2050
Emission intensity of secondary aluminum production	$0.849~{\rm kg}~{\rm CO}_2{\rm eq}/{\rm kg}$ in 2020 linearly decreases to 0.5 kg ${\rm CO}_2{\rm eq}/{\rm kg}$ in 2050

Table 2.5: Scenario settings

Scenario	Description
Baseline	conservative assumptions applied
Eff LR_ $7.9\%$	the LR of PV efficiency changed from $3.4\%$ to $7.9\%$
Alint LR_5.9%	the LR of Al intensity changed from $2.6\%$ to $5.9\%$
ITLE	lifetime of frame and mounting structure changed from 25 years to 30 years
LI+Jy	inverter's changed from 15 years to 20 years
Doorrolo 0007	the Al recycling rate increases more rapidly
Recycle_9970	34% in 2020 increasing to 99% in 2050
Combination	Combine all of the above changes in efficiency LR, aluminum intensity LR, components lifetime and recycling rate

#### 2.4 Validation

In previous studies, Lennon et al. [18] also projected global aluminum demand for PV systems from 2020 to 2050. Their study scope is similar to this research, but they also considered the aluminum consumption of cells. However, their results showed that this demand accounts for less than 0.2% of the total demand. They predicted that, without considering any system degradation or component retirement, the cumulative aluminum demand would be 486.5 Mt. When assuming a system energy degradation rate of 0.5% per year, the cumulative aluminum demand increases to 508.8 Mt. Their study did not use a material flow model but instead represented system degradation using the energy degradation rate. This research applies the assumptions from their study (excluding cell consumption) to the model and incorporates the component lifetime and Weibull distribution assumptions from this study's baseline. By comparing the results, the model's reliability is validated. The results are shown in Figure 2.4. Until 2050, the overall aluminum demand is 528.40 Mt. The 3.9% error arises from differences in the assumptions regarding system energy degradation and component retirement, as discussed in section 2.3.4.



Figure 2.4: Cumulative aluminum demand in validation scenario with similar assumptions from Lennon's study.

# Chapter 3

### **Result and Discussion**

In this chapter, the aluminum demand and the associated greenhouse gas emission were estimated for the required PV capacity predicted for the broad electrification scenario. Through scenario analysis, the aluminum demand mitigation potential of several factors are shown by the results.

#### 3.1 Cumulative aluminum demand

Figure 3.1 presents the cumulative aluminum demand for global PV systems under various scenarios. Figure 3.1(a) shows the cumulative aluminum demand in baseline scenario. The overall aluminum demand until 2050 is 830.98 Mt. The demand in mounting structure, frame and inverter accounts for 63.9%, 30.8% and 5.3%.

This demand is much higher than that from Lennon's study (486 Mt). The primary reason concerns the different assumptions about the PV market. In Lennon's study, all open-ground mounting systems were assumed to use stainless steel, and this type of mounting system accounted for 50% - 60% of the total from 2020 to 2050. In our study, based on the variety of products available in the market, we assumed that aluminum open-ground mounting systems and stainless steel openground mounting systems would account for 24.4% and 25.6% of the total share, respectively.

As shown in figure 3.1(b), compared to the baseline, Eff LR\_7.9 scenario sees an increase in the learning rate of PV efficiency from 3.4% to 7.9%, resulting in a 15.9% reduction in cumulative aluminum demand. Higher PV efficiency reduces the area required to install PV systems of the same capacity, thereby saving aluminum in module frames and mounting structures. The aluminum consumption for inverters remains unaffected in this scenario. Figure 3.2 compares the PV installation areas between baseline scenario and Eff LR\_7.9% scenario. The cumulative area in Eff LR\_7.9% scenario ( $2.17*10_{11}$  m<sup>2</sup>) is 16.9% less than in baseline scenario ( $2.61*10_{11}$  m<sup>2</sup>), which aligns closely with the 16.7% reduction in aluminum consumption for module frames and mounting. The efficiency gap between the two scenarios widens annually due to technological advancements, leading to a more pronounced difference in annual installation areas. In 2050, the installation area in baseline scenario is  $1.81*10_{10}$  m<sup>2</sup>, while in Eff LR\_7.9% scenario it is  $1.41*10_{10}$  m<sup>2</sup>, only 78% of that in baseline.

As shown in figure 3.1(c), in Alint LR\_5.9% scenario, the learning rate for reducing aluminum intensity in components increases from 2.6% to 5.9%, leading to a 15.5% reduction in cumulative aluminum demand. This scenario demonstrates the most significant reduction in aluminum demand, except for the combined scenario.

In LT+5y scenario, extending the lifetime of various components by 5 years results in only a 4.1% reduction in cumulative aluminum demand, as shown in figure 3.1(d). This is because the expansion of the PV market between 2020 and 2035 is limited; by 2035, the shipped capacity of global PV systems is only 20.8% of that in 2050. In the baseline scenario, the expected lifetime of modules and mounting structures is 25 years, and according to the Weibull curve, 75.6% of components installed in 2035 will still be in use by 2050. In LT+5y scenario, with an expected lifetime of 30 years, 83.4% of similar components will still be in use by 2050. Most PV systems installed post-2035 have not vet reached the end of their lifetime in the baseline scenario. Thus, extending the lifetime of PV components does not significantly impact aluminum consumption by 2050. However, it is noteworthy that only 36.8% of products with a 25-year lifetime remain usable after 25 years, compared to 53.0% for those with a 30-year lifetime. The discard curve for PV systems shows a lag relative to the installation curve. Given the rapid increase in PV installations around 2035, many components will reach their end of life by around 2060. Extending the study period by 10 years would make the impact of increasing component lifetime more pronounced.

Figure 3.1(e) shows that recycle\_99% scenario enhances the learning rate of aluminum recycling, which increases the proportion of secondary aluminum in the aluminum inflow without affecting the total aluminum demand. Therefore, it shows the same aluminum demand in components and PV systems as that in baseline scenario.

As shown in Figure 3.1(f), combination scenario integrates improvements from the previous scenarios, resulting in a cumulative aluminum demand of 568.65 Mt, a 31.6% reduction compared to the baseline. The aluminum consumption reduction potential in Combination scenario is not merely an additive effect of the previous scenarios. Specifically, higher PV efficiency and longer component lifetime reduce the overall demand for PV components, diminishing the impact of reduced aluminum intensity in components. Additionally, the benefits of increasing the learning rates for PV efficiency and aluminum intensity, as well as extending component lifetimes, require time to accumulate. By 2035, the cumulative aluminum demand in baseline scenario is 174.13 Mt, while in Combination scenario it is 143.60 Mt, showing a minor difference. This indicates that the potential for reducing aluminum consumption largely manifests in the latter 15 years of the study period.



(a) Baseline







Figure 3.1: Cumulative aluminum demand under different scenarios



Figure 3.2: Installation area of PV system under baseline scenario and Eff LR\_7.9 scenario.

#### **3.2** Annual aluminum demand

Figure 3.3(a) show the annual aluminum demand under baseline scenario. Demand from module frames, mounting systems, and inverters is shown separately. The total annual demand continues to grow from 2020 to 2050, with the fastest growth occurring between 2030 and 2035. By 2045-2050, the demand stabilizes. In contrast, the annual demand for primary aluminum peaks in 2048 and then begins to decline. This decline is due to the rapid increase in secondary aluminum supply. The inflow of secondary aluminum becomes noticeable around 2030, with almost no visible impact before that. This is when the first batch of PV components reaches 10-year operational life. The lag in the EoL component curve compared to the installation curve, along with the annually increasing aluminum recycling rate, leads to a growing proportion of secondary aluminum in the total supply. By around 2060, secondary aluminum is expected to replace primary aluminum as the main supply source.

By 2050, the global aluminum demand for PV systems is projected to be 55.74 Mt, with recycled secondary aluminum meeting 19.5% of this demand. Primary aluminum will still constitute 80.5% of the demand, amounting to 44.85 Mt. From a component perspective, the aluminum demand for mounting systems is 35.35 Mt, accounting for 63.4% of the total demand. Module frames and inverters account for 30.6% (17.03 Mt) and 6.0% (3.36 Mt) of the total demand, respectively, which is consistent with the overall distribution of cumulative demand.

Figure 3.3(b) shows the annual aluminum demand under Eff LR\_7.9% scenario. Compared to baseline, the accelerated increase in PV efficiency slows the growth trend of annual aluminum demand for module frames and mounting systems, with

the impact primarily observed in the latter 15 years. In this scenario, the annual aluminum demand in 2035 is 21.25 Mt, which is a reduction of 3.02 Mt compared to baseline (24.27 Mt). By 2050, the annual demand grows to 44.24 Mt, compared to 55.74 Mt in baseline, resulting in a difference of 11.50 Mt. The growth in overall aluminum demand is suppressed. However, since the inflow of PV components changes little in the first 15 years, the number of EoL PV components before 2050 remains relatively stable, allowing the output of secondary aluminum to continue growing steadily. This causes the peak demand for primary aluminum for module frames and mounting systems to occur a year earlier, in 2047, before it begins to decline. Overall, the main contribution of higher PV efficiency is the effective reduction in aluminum demand. However, this does not significantly impact the timeline for achieving a circular system where secondary aluminum becomes the main supply.

Alint LR\_5.9% scenario exhibits a similar situation to Eff LR\_7.9% scenario, as shown in Figure 3.3(c). The reduction in aluminum intensity of PV components directly and effectively decreases aluminum demand, with the cumulative effect of technological advancements becoming more pronounced in the latter 15 years. The only difference is that in Alint LR\_5.9% scenario, the aluminum demand for inverters is also reduced. However, since the aluminum demand for inverters accounts for less than 10% of the total aluminum demand in the entire PV system, this change has a negligible impact on the overall aluminum demand.

In the discussion of cumulative demand, it was found that extending the lifetime of PV components by five years has a minimal impact on global aluminum demand for PV systems up to 2050. The effect on annual demand is even smaller, to the point where it is difficult to observe, as shown in Figure 3.3(d). The average lifetime of inverters increases from 15 years to 20 years; given the 30-year study period, the change in the number of EoL inverters and aluminum demand for them might be interesting. However, since the aluminum demand for inverters constitutes a small portion of the entire PV system, its impact is insignificant and does not warrant detailed discussion.

The impact of increasing aluminum recycling rates is concentrated on the inflow of secondary aluminum. Figure 3.3(e) shows the annual aluminum demand under Recycle\_99% scenario. In 2050, the secondary inflow is 14.04 Mt, a 28.9% increase compared to baseline (10.89 Mt). However, this only reduces the primary aluminum demand by 7.0% in 2050. This is interesting. Back to baseline scenario, the recycling rate of aluminum in PV systems reaches 74% by 2050, while most of the PV equipment installed previously has not yet reached its EoL. Considering that the aluminum recycling rate will continue to rise, that means even under conservative assumptions, the outlook for aluminum recycling in PV systems is promising. In Recycle\_99% scenario, the recycling rate increases to 99% by 2050. From the perspective of EoL components recycling , the benefits are substantial. However, since most components are still in use at this time, the effect on reducing aluminum demand is relatively limited.

In Combination scenario, the most optimistic scenario, the annual aluminum demand is decreased significantly, as shown in Figure 3.3(f). It's noteworthy that the last three years' aluminum demands are almost same, 32.71 Mt in 2048, 32.80 Mt in 2049, 32.83 Mt in 2050, with a 41.4% reduction compared to baseline. It can be said that in this scenario, aluminum demand will stop growing in 2050. This is exciting news. Additionally, in this scenario, the demand for primary aluminum also peaks earlier than in other scenarios, reaching 27.56 Mt in 2045. Moreover, the benefits of extending the lifetime of PV components will become increasingly evident in the future, as discussed before. With the number of EoL components growing rapidly, combined with the already saturated aluminum recycling rate, the shift to a global PV system primarily supplied by secondary aluminum will be accelerated.

In baseline scenario, the primary aluminum demand reach 44.9 Mt at 2050, as for comparison, the global primary aluminium production in 2023 is 70.6 Mt [81]. To control it to less than 40% of primary aluminum production in 2020, all optimistic estimations need to be applied, as shown in Figure 3.4. However, if the recycling of aluminum cannot be applied successfully, the aluminum demand in the Combination scenario will also exceed the 40% line. The recycling of aluminum in PV system will be a crucial pathway for avoiding the aluminum supply risk in the future. Aluminum is a crucial metal in many industries, such as construction and aerospace. Even though it accounts for 40% of global aluminum production capacity, this represents a significant risk for any single industry. On a positive note, global aluminum production capacity continues to evolve, with recent years showing steady growth. Moreover, in all scenarios considered in this study, the demand for primary aluminum is expected to peak before 2050. It is anticipated that secondary aluminum from system recycling will gradually become the primary source of supply, leading to a rapid decline in the demand for primary aluminum.



(a) Baseline



(b) Scenario: Eff LR\_7.9%



Figure 3.3: Annual aluminum demand under different scenarios.



Figure 3.4: Primary aluminum demand in 2050

#### **3.3** Aluminum recycling potential

The influences of the important factors on aluminum recycling situation can be observed in Figure 3.5. Except for the initial year, there are EoL components generated in every year. A portion of these components is recycled, with the aluminum re-entering the system as secondary aluminum. Figure 3.5(a) illustrates the annual growth of outflow and secondary inflow under baseline scenario. The secondary inflow increases at a faster rate due to rising recycling rates. However, since the outflow is also rapidly growing, the net outflow stabilizes between 2045 and 2050. Net outflow represents the un-recycled waste. This study focuses on aluminum in PV systems, so the net outflow pertains only to the loss of this metal, without considering its environmental impact. Nonetheless, if the entire PV modules are not properly disposed of, the heavy metals they contain pose a potential environmental hazard [72]. In 2050, the global aluminum outflow from PV systems is projected to be 14.97 Mt, with a secondary inflow of 10.89 Mt. In comparison, the aluminum inflow that year is expected to be 55.74 Mt.

The installation curve of global PV systems and the Weibull distribution of the lifetime of PV components determine the shape of the outflow curve. Figure 3.5(b) and Figure 3.5(c) shows that, the increase in PV efficiency and the reduction in aluminum intensity of components not only decrease aluminum demand but also reduce aluminum outflow and recycling volumes. In LT+5y scenario, the longer expected lifetime of components slows the growth rate of the outflow curve, resulting in an outflow of 10.36 Mt by 2050, as shown in Figure 3.5(d), which is a 30.8% decrease compared to baseline. In Recycle\_99% scenario shown in Figure 3.5(e), the rapidly increasing recycling rate causes the annual aluminum outflow and secondary inflow to be closely aligned. From the figure, it can be observed that the annual outflow rises sharply after 2040. According to the assumptions in Recycle\_99% scenario, the

average aluminum recycling rate in PV systems reaches 77% by 2040, indicating that most of the EoL components are being recycled.

Figure 3.5(f) shows the recycling situation of Combination scenario. The combine of all optimistic estimations made the outflow increasing much slower, lower than 5 Mt until 2045, and reach to 8.1 Mt in 2050. Thanks to the high recycling rate, most of the outflow is converted into secondary inflow and recycled. The net outflow generated each year is minimal, with the highest value being 0.76 Mt in 2045.

Table 3.1 summarizes the average aluminum recycling rate of the scenarios above. It is evident that extending the lifetime of components (LT+5y) significantly reduces the aluminum outflow within the study period, decreasing it by 32.9%. Scenarios 2 and 3 also reduce cumulative outflow by 8.8% and 10.3%, respectively, due to the decreased aluminum inflow. In Recycle\_99% scenario, advancements in recycling technology increase the average recycling rate from 65.7% in the baseline to 82.9%, resulting in an additional 19.68 Mt of cumulative secondary inflow. Although this does not meet 40% of the aluminum demand in 2050 under the baseline scenario, the rapid growth in cumulative outflow afterward will make the resource-saving and economic benefits of higher recycling rate reaching 82.7%, the combination scenario, despite the average recycling rate reaching 82.7%, the combination of various improvements significantly reduces the cumulative outflow, resulting in only 52.42 Mt of secondary aluminum. The net aluminum outflow is reduced to 10.96 Mt, shows a 72.1% decrease compared to baseline (39.24 Mt), promoting sustainable resource development.





Figure 3.5: Aluminum outflow and secondary Aluminum inflow under different scenarios.

Table 3.1: Average aluminum recycling rate and net outflow in scenarios from 2020 to 2050.

scenario	cumulative Al outflow (Mt)	cumulative secondary Al inflow (Mt)	average recycling rate	net Al outflow (Mt)
Baseline	114.35	75.11	65.7%	39.24
Eff LR_ $7.9\%$	104.33	68.34	65.5%	35.99
Alint LR_ $5.9\%$	102.57	67.21	65.5%	35.36
LT+5y	76.71	50.52	65.9%	26.19
Recycle_99%	114.35	94.79	82.9%	19.56
Combination	63.38	52.42	82.7%	10.96

### 3.4 Aluminum Stock of Global Photovoltaic system

The aluminum stock within PV systems is essential not only for assessing resource demand but also for framing aluminum as an "urban mineral," which holds significant implications for recycling and resource management strategies. The concept of ürban mineralsrefers to materials that are embedded in the urban infrastructure and can be recovered and reused. Aluminum is a prime example of an urban mineral due to its extensive use in various applications, including PV systems. The urban mining of aluminum involves extracting this valuable metal from end-of-life products, buildings, and other infrastructures rather than from natural ore deposits [82].

Figure 3.6 shows the aluminum stock under the different scenarios in this study. Figure 3.6(a) refers to baseline scenario, where the total aluminum stock until 2050 is 716.63 Mt, with module frames, mounting structures, and inverters accounting for 31.0%, 64.5%, and 4.5%, respectively. Compared to the distribution of demand, the share of inverters in the stock is smaller. These proportions can be used to compare the CPP of each component. Under the broad electrification scenario of ITRPV, global PV system installations are projected to reach 63 TW by 2050. The average CPP is 11.38 Mt/TW, meaning that an average 1 kW PV system requires 11.38 kg of aluminum: 3.53 kg for module frames, 0.51 kg for inverters, and 7.33 kg for mounting systems.

Compared to baseline, the 2050 aluminum stock in Eff LR\_7.9% scenario and Alint LR\_5.9% scenario decreased by 17.0% and 16.3%, respectively. Both reductions are due to technological advancements that reduce the aluminum CPP of newly installed PV systems. Therefore, although the global capacity of PV systems is rapidly increasing, the accumulation of aluminum stock has slowed down relatively.

In LT+5y scenario, however, the aluminum stock increased by 0.4%. Although the impact is minimal, this reflects the hindrance of extending component lifetimes on technological updates. Older components exit the market later, reducing the number of new components with better technology being installed. Consequently, the average efficiency of products in the existing market decreases, and average resource consumption increases. From an urban mining perspective, extending the lifetime of components not only reduces resource input during these years but also provides more urban mineral accumulation for the future. These components, still in use, can be recycled in the future using more advanced and efficient technologies, which is overall highly beneficial for resource recycling.

Recycle\_99% scenario only changes the aluminum recycling rate, so its aluminum stock situation is the same as the baseline. Nevertheless, urban mining is closely related to the recycling rate of resources. Urban minerals have development potential, and converting this potential into benefits requires efficient recycling methods. Therefore, more urban minerals can drive the development of recycling technologies, stimulating an increase in recycling rates. The development of waste recycling technology determines the conversion rate of urban mineral potential and benefits.

Combination scenario decreases the stock by 29.5%, as shown in figure 3.6(f). With the increase of PV efficiency and the decrease of aluminum intensity of components, the accumulation speed of aluminum stock has slowed down significantly. Most equipment operates for no more than 10 years, which means that aluminum stock will continue to accumulate over the next 20 years. However, a mature recycling system can provide a stable resource supply for future PV equipment construction, creating an ideal resource recycling scenario.

Table 3.2 summarizes the average aluminum CPP of in-use PV systems in 2050

under scenarios. 1 kWp PV system cost 8.02-11.43 kg aluminum in 2050. Mounting systems are the most aluminum-intensive components, with an aluminum usage of 5.13-7.37 kg per kWp. In Combination scenario, the aluminum CPP of newly installed PV systems in 2020 is 16.85 kg/kWp, which drops to 6.70 kg/kWp by 2050, a decrease of 60.2%. This value is 83.5% of the average aluminum CPP for in-use PV systems (8.02 kg/kWp). This demonstrates the reduction in CPP due to technological advancements and the progress of technology iterations.





(f) Combination

Figure 3.6: Annual aluminum stock under different scenarios.

scenario	Al CPP of moudule frames $(kg/kWp)$	Al CPP of mounting systems $(kg/kWp)$	Al CPP of inverters $(kg/kWp)$	Sum $(kg/kWp)$
Baseline	3.53	7.33	0.51	11.38
Eff LR_7.9%	2.90	6.03	0.51	9.44
Alint LR_5.9%	2.96	6.14	0.42	9.52
LT+5y	3.55	7.37	0.51	11.43
Recycle_99%	3.53	7.33	0.51	11.38
Combination	2.47	5.13	0.43	8.02

Table 3.2: Average aluminum CPP of in-use PV systems in 2050

#### 3.5 Global warming potential

Figure 3.7 shows the results of GWP calculation for scenarios. Due to the rapid decrease in emission intensity resulting from the electrification of aluminum production, the overall GWP has been declining year by year since 2041/2042, even though the aluminum demand for PV systems will continue to grow until 2050. In baseline scenario, the aluminum emissions in PV systems by 2050 are projected to be 117.57 Mt  $CO_2eq$ , with 30.8% from component frames, 63.9% from mounting systems, and 5.3% from inverters, which corresponds to the proportion of aluminum demand for each component. The four optimistic scenarios reduce emissions by 22.3% (Eff  $LR_{7.9\%}$ , 21.1% (Alint  $LR_{5.9\%}$ ), 3.0% (LT+5y), and 5.4% (Recycle\_99\%), respectively. The combined scenarios show a 43.1% reduction in the 2050 annual GWP compared to the baseline. Figure 3.8 illustrates the cumulative aluminum emissions in PV systems across different scenarios. The curve for Eff LR\_7.9% scenario shows that increasing PV efficiency has resulted in the largest reduction in greenhouse gas emissions among the four optimistic scenarios (14.6%), while the combination of all four optimistic assumptions achieves a 28.% reduction. Although it is assumed that the emission intensity of primary aluminum will decrease to 2.5 kg  $CO_2eq/kg$ by 2050, the cumulative emissions under the baseline scenario are still projected to reach 3534 Mt CO<sub>2</sub>eq by 2050, equivalent to 9.5% of global energy-related greenhouse gas emissions in 2023, and even with the most optimistic estimates, the portion remains 6.8% [83]. This indicates that, due to the time required for decarbonizing aluminum production, the large-scale manufacturing of PV systems will inevitably result in significant greenhouse gas emissions.



Figure 3.7: Annual Global Warming Potential under different scenarios.



Figure 3.8: Cumulative global warming potential of scenarios (primary Al: 9.31 kg  $CO_2eq/kg$ , secondary Al: 0.849 kg  $CO_2eq/kg$ ).

## Chapter 4

### **General Discussion**

#### 4.1 Significance of key factors

The installed capacity of PV systems is the most decisive factor affecting the demand for aluminum in PV systems, while the emission intensity of aluminum production plays a crucial role in determining the environmental impact associated with aluminum use. This study's projections are based on two critical assumptions: the board electrification scenario and the below 2°C scenario. The former provides the basis for assumptions regarding PV installation capacity from 2020 to 2050, while the latter underpins assumptions about the emission intensity of primary and secondary aluminum production. These assumptions are critical as they significantly influence the results.

# 4.1.1 Impact of photovoltaic installed capacity on aluminum demand

My findings demonstrate that improvements in PV efficiency, component material intensity, component lifetime, and recycling rates could collectively reduce global aluminum demand for PV systems by 31.6%. However, the impact of PV installed capacity on aluminum demand is far more significant. In the board electrification scenario, where all energy-required sectors including sectors like transportation and heating, which currently reliant on fossil fuels, are electrified, Bogdanov et al.[3] estimated a PV installation of 63.4 TW by 2050. Excluding these fuels-required sectors, they estimated a PV installation of 22.0 TWp by 2050, with an annual installation rate of 1.4 TWp [84]. This represents a 65.3% reduction in PV capacity compared to the large-scale electrification scenario, leading to a proportional reduction in aluminum demand. This decrease far exceeds the combined potential reduction from the four factors discussed in this study.

Given the critical importance of PV capacity, this study did not create scenarios to analyze its sensitivity. This is because its impact on the results is too significant, potentially overshadowing the discussion of other factors in the study. Furthermore, reducing PV capacity is not a viable strategy for decreasing aluminum demand in PV systems. In the context of global energy transitions, reducing PV capacity would necessitate other power generation technologies to fill the gap, leading to increased material consumption and greenhouse gas emissions in other sectors.

#### 4.1.2 Impact of emission intensity of aluminum production on total GWP

Regarding the emission intensity of aluminum production, previous studies have provided varying calculations. Ding et al. [31] conducted a life cycle assessment of aluminum production in China, estimating the emission intensity of primary and secondary aluminum at 14.5 kg CO<sub>2</sub>eq/kg and 0.93 kg CO<sub>2</sub>eq/kg, respectively. The emission intensity for primary aluminum in their study is 56% higher than the 9.31 kg CO<sub>2</sub>eq/kg used in this study. In fact, a significant portion of global primary aluminum production is concentrated in China, which accounted for 41,666 kilotons out of the global production of 70,581 kilotons in 2023, representing 59% [28].

When substituting the emission intensity with 14.5 kg  $CO_2eq/kg$  in 2020, linearly decreasing to 2.5 kg  $CO_2eq/kg$  in 2050, and the secondary aluminum emission intensity with 0.93 kg  $CO_2eq/kg$  in 2020, linearly decreasing to 0.5 kg  $CO_2eq/kg$ in 2050, the cumulative GWP in each scenario significantly increases, as shown in Figure 4.1. Comparing these results with the original findings (Figure 3.8), it is evident that the emissions in baseline scenario of the original results are comparable to those in combination scenario after adjusting the emission intensities. Both assumptions lead to the same emission intensity level by 2050, yet the mere adoption of alternative initial emission intensity data has a greater impact on the results than all the factors discussed in this study, underscoring the decisive influence of aluminum production's emission intensity on the overall GWP.



Figure 4.1: Cumulative Global Warming potential of scenarios with initial emission intensity changed (primary Al:  $14.5 \text{ kg CO}_2 \text{eq/kg}$ , secondary Al:  $0.93 \text{ kg CO}_2 \text{eq/kg}$ )

#### 4.1.3 Challenges and implications for aluminum decarbonization

This study assumes that under the below 2°C scenario, the emission intensity of primary aluminum will decrease to 2.5 kg  $CO_2eq/kg$  by 2050. This is an ambitious target, implying the elimination of electricity-related emissions within less than 30 years—a significant challenge for primary aluminum producers. It also entails a 50% direct emission reduction and further reductions in emissions from raw materials and auxiliary processes [27]. Achieving this would be a major challenge for all participants in the aluminum value chain. The extent to which future emission intensities can meet these targets, and the shape of the reduction curve, will both influence the environmental impact of aluminum used in PV systems.

Reducing the emission intensity of aluminum production is a crucial focus for the entire aluminum industry. The decarbonization pathway for aluminum production faces many complex and unique challenges, influenced by numerous factors. In regions heavily reliant on fossil fuels, aluminum production is predominantly powered by self-generated electricity. According to IAI data, 97% of electricity in Asia (excluding China) is self-generated [28]. Following the B2DS emission pathway, capital investment required for electricity decarbonization over the next 30 years is estimated to range between \$0.5 trillion and \$1.5 trillion [27].

In terms of CCUS (Carbon Capture, Utilization, and Storage) deployment, the relatively low concentration of  $CO_2$  emitted from electrolysis cells during aluminum smelting (500-15,000 ppm) poses additional challenges, as well as the costs associated with redesigning, retrofitting, and implementing electrolysis cells [27]. For thermal processes such as alumina production, decarbonization progress depends on the development and deployment of green hydrogen technology. In summary, the decarbonization pathway for aluminum is influenced by multiple industries and factors, making predictions about changes in the emission intensity of aluminum production a topic worthy of further exploration.

# 4.2 Circular economy potential of aluminum in photovoltaic systems

One of aluminum's unique advantages is its ability to be infinitely recycled without any loss of performance, making it an ideal material for a circular economy [85]. This characteristic is particularly significant in building a circular PV industry. As discussed earlier, there are two primary pathways for recycling aluminum components: re-melting them into new aluminum ingots or refurbishing and reprocessing them into new components. The latter option is more energy-efficient and has a lower emissions profile since it avoids the energy-intensive re-melting process [41]. However, it also requires more stringent collection and sorting of EoL components.

#### 4.2.1 Importance of recycling policies and collection efficiency

Circular economy policies that improve scrap collection and alloy sorting are crucial for preserving aluminum's value (and the significant energy invested in its initial production) at the end of a product's life [27]. The collection rates for new and internal scrap (waste generated during various production and manufacturing processes before the final product is made) are very high, with minimal loss after collection. However, the quality of aluminum scrap collected at the end of a product's life varies depending on the alloy composition and the degree of sorting. The IAI advocates that producers, consumers, and waste management participants bear responsibility for ensuring that materials are returned to the system at the end of their life cycle. Those involved in designing metals and converting them into products are also responsible for creating applications that facilitate easy and effective separation, collection, and sorting of aluminum components, thereby preserving the metal's value and its alloy integrity [27].

#### 4.2.2 Attempts on modeling a circular photovoltaic system

Currently, due to the lack of a mature recycling stream and processing line for discarded PV modules, this study only considers the re-melting pathway. However, establishing a resource-efficient, circular PV system requires the reuse of PV components. In fact, incorporating the refurbishment and direct recycling of PV components would add complexity to the model. Specifically, both the material flow of components and the aluminum flow would follow an extra circular pathway, necessitating a reevaluation of the efficiency, material intensity, lifetime, and recycling rates of second-hand components. The reusability of EoL components depends on their condition and duration. Moreover, depending on the degradation, different EoL components may require varying amounts of additional materials during refurbishment. These factors imply that incorporating the refurbishment and reuse of PV components requires more detailed assumptions and a more realistic model.

Khalifa et al. [41] have attempted to address this complexity. They provided a dynamic material flow analysis model for PV systems in the United States, quantifying the cradle-to-cradle material flows and inventories for utility-scale crystalline silicon PV systems through 2100. In their model, they considered the refurbishment of discarded modules, assuming that 50% of the generation capacity loss could be restored and reused. These secondary components were assumed to have a shorter lifetime (15 years) while maintaining the same efficiency and material intensity. In this model, all PV components could only be reused once, with no consideration of tertiary components. Their results showed that module reuse had a limited impact on reducing cumulative waste generation. Even if 70% of decommissioned modules were reused, and half of these were refurbished to recover half of the efficiency loss, only 5 million tons of waste would be avoided by 2100. The impact on aluminum demand and emissions, however, requires further exploration.

#### 4.2.3 Economic and technical barriers to photovoltaic component reuse

Reusing PV components presents many challenges. Currently, neither the reuse of EoL components nor the recycling of their materials is economically viable [43, 86]. In fact, besides the two recycling pathways, there are two other ways to handle EoL components: landfilling and storage. Due to the relatively high cost of recy-

cling, landfilling remains the most common option [43]. Moreover, most recovered components are simply crushed and sorted before being sent to the mature metals industry for refinement and further use [41]. The lack of proper sorting leads to high-value alloy scrap being contaminated by lower-value waste, which also reduces the feasibility of reusing discarded materials.

EoL components must undergo quality inspection before they can be refurbished and re-enter the reuse cycle [87]. A study conducted in the United States on 100,000 large-scale PV systems found that PV modules have a significantly lower failure rate compared to other system components such as inverters and breakers [88]. This might indicate that only a small proportion of modules would qualify for refurbishment [89, 90]. Furthermore, the efficiency and safety of second-hand PV modules remain uncertain. Currently, there is no comprehensive screening system or standards, leading to a lack of confidence in deploying second-hand modules and stifling their potential economic benefits at scale. Additionally, social factors, such as customer attitudes, play a significant role. Consumer perceptions of second-hand components greatly influence their market value in secondary markets, which in turn affects manufacturers' decisions [86].

Recycling PV modules is a complex and costly process due to the need to separate different materials [43]. Additionally, the rapid development of PV technology and the frequent updates of products further diminish the potential economic benefits of refurbishing old PV modules [86]. In contrast, mounting systems are less affected by these factors. As long as they are recycled according to alloy types and meet standards, EoL mounting systems can be refurbished into second-hand components or reprocessed to produce new products with different specifications. Furthermore, mounting system parts are easier to disassemble, making recycling costs lower. It is foreseeable that the reuse of mounting systems is an area with significant potential for both economic and environmental benefits.

# Chapter 5

# Conclusion

This research introduces a photovoltaic material flow model to track the flow of aluminum and associated environmental impacts in the global PV systems from 2020 to 2050, under the broad electrification scenario. The circulation of aluminum has been taken into account in the model. The aluminum flow and greenhouse gas emissions from the module frame, mounting system, and inverter are calculated and discussed separately. This model applied a wide range of PV-specific parameters and aluminum production parameters. Multi-scenario analysis is used to reveal the impact of several factors on aluminum demand. The results and discussions could provide answers to research questions proposed in section 1.5.

# Question a) By 2050, what will be the global aluminum demand for PV systems?

In baseline scenario, the cumulative aluminum demand of global PV systems until 2050 is 830.98 Mt. The demand in mounting structure, frame and inverter accounts for 63.9%, 30.8% and 5.3%. The average annual aluminum demand is projected as 55.74 Mt in 2050, with recycled secondary aluminum meeting 19.5% of this demand. The total aluminum stock until 2050 is 716.63 Mt, with module frames, mounting structures, and inverters accounting for 31.0%, 64.5%, and 4.5%, respectively. The annual aluminum demand curve shows a trend that secondary aluminum will take over primary aluminum in material supply of new PV systems in next decades after 2050.

#### Question b) What factors influence aluminum demand in PV systems?

According to the research model, factors influencing aluminum demand in PV systems include PV deployment capacity, component market mix, PV efficiency, aluminum intensity of components, component lifetime, and aluminum recycling rate. Among these, aluminum demand in PV systems is most sensitive to PV deployment capacity, varying proportionally with changes in deployment capacity. The aluminum consumption per unit capacity or area varies across different components, and some components, such as mounting structures made of stainless steel, do not consume aluminum. Therefore, changes in the market mix can significantly impact the global aluminum demand for PV systems. Given a fixed target capacity, PV efficiency determines the total installed PV area. Reducing the PV system area not

only decreases land use but also reduces the number of modules and the layout area of the installation system, thereby reducing overall aluminum consumption. Lower aluminum intensity in components means less aluminum is required for the same PV system capacity. A longer component lifetime means that components, and the aluminum contained within them, remain in use for an extended period, thus reducing the demand for new components and aluminum. The aluminum recycling rate determines the supply of secondary aluminum, which, in turn, affects the demand for primary aluminum.

# Question c) What is the potential for reducing aluminum demand in PV systems?

This study provides four options for conserving aluminum resources in PV systems: increasing LR of PV efficiency, increasing LR of components' aluminum intensity, extending components lifetime, and increasing aluminum recycling rates. We found that accelerating the growth of PV efficiency and reducing material intensity have the most significant impact on reducing aluminum demand. By increasing the LR of PV efficiency from 3.4% to 7.9%, the cumulative aluminum demand reduces by 15.9%. In Alint LR<sub>5.9</sub>% scenario, the LR for aluminum intensity increases from 2.6% to 5.9%, leading to a 15.5% reduction. In contrast, extending the lifetime of PV components has a minimal effect, with only 4.1% reduction led by extension of lifetime by 5 years. While increasing the aluminum recycling rate (from 75% in 2050changed to 99% in 2050)enhances the production of secondary aluminum by 28.9%, its impact on reducing primary aluminum demand is limited to 7.0%. Combining all four options could reduce cumulative aluminum demand by 31.6% and cumulative emissions by 28.5% by 2050. Achieving these reductions requires all four parameters develop at the expected rates. It is also important to note that the PV capacity is a more direct and significant factor affecting aluminum demand in PV systems, while the projected GWP largely depend on assumptions about emission intensity of aluminum production.

# Question d) What are the greenhouse gas emissions of producing the aluminum needed in PV systems?

In the projection of greenhouse gas emission, the aluminum used associated with cumulatively 3534 Mt CO<sub>2</sub>eq within 2020-2050, equivalent to 9.5% of global energy-related greenhouse gas emissions in 2023. In combination scenario, the reduction of aluminum demand reduces the cumulative emissions by 28.5% (2527 Mt CO<sub>2</sub>eq). If aluminum production can not decarbonized on schedule, the GWP will be even greater. The global PV systems have the potential to establish a closed-loop aluminum recycling system if with accurately sorted and recycled, given that the aluminum used in PV systems have similar functions and are similar types of alloys. The recycle of aluminum and aluminum components offers substantial emission mitigation potential.

# Bibliography

- Nancy M. Haegel and Sarah R. Kurtz. "Global Progress Toward Renewable Electricity: Tracking the Role of Solar (Version 3)". In: *IEEE Journal of Photovoltaics* 13.6 (2023), pp. 768–776. DOI: 10.1109/JPH0T0V.2023.3309922.
- [2] Renewable capacity statistics 2024. Mar. 2024. URL: https://www.irena. org/Publications/2024/Mar/Renewable-capacity-statistics-2024? trk=public\_post\_comment-text.
- [3] Dmitrii Bogdanov et al. "Low-cost renewable electricity as the key driver of the global energy transition towards sustainability". In: *Energy* 227 (July 2021), p. 120467. DOI: 10.1016/j.energy.2021.120467. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2021.120467.
- [4] Jan Maurice Bödeker, Marc Bauer, Martin Pehnt, et al. "Aluminium and renewable energy systems-prospects for the sustainable generation of electricity and heat". In: Aluminium and Renewable Energy Systems-Prospects for the Sustainable Generation of Electricity and Heat (2010).
- [5] AJR Bauer and C Laska. "LIBS for Automated Aluminum Scrap Sorting". In: Application Note LIBS-028 (US) 2018 (2018).
- [6] N. Hutasoit et al. "Effects of build orientation and heat treatment on microstructure, mechanical and corrosion properties of Al6061 aluminium parts built by cold spray additive manufacturing process". In: International Journal of Mechanical Sciences 204 (2021), p. 106526. DOI: 10.1016/J.IJMECSCI. 2021.106526.
- [7] M. Jandaghi, P. Parvin, and M. Torkamany. "Using LIBS analysis to get the magnesium relative concentration changes in the weld metal of Al-5754 alloy during laser welding". In: *Optics and Photonics Society of Iran* 20 (2014), pp. 753–756.
- [8] J. Agboola and O. Olawale. "Effects of Ferro-Silicon addition, heat-treatment and plastic deformation on corrosion resistance of 6063 Aluminum Alloy". In: *Nigerian Journal of Technology* (2022). DOI: 10.4314/njt.v41i4.7.
- [9] S. Kumar et al. "Investigation on corrosion behaviour of aluminium 6061-T6 alloy in acidic, alkaline and salt medium". In: *Materials Today: Proceedings* (2020). DOI: 10.1016/j.matpr.2020.09.079.
- [10] K. Mroczkowska, A. Antończak, and J. Gasiorek. "The Corrosion Resistance of Aluminum Alloy Modified by Laser Radiation". In: *Coatings* (2019). DOI: 10.3390/coatings9100672.

- [11] Tin-Tai Chow, Jie Ji, and Wei He. "Photovoltaic-Thermal Collector System for Domestic Application". In: Solar Energy (2005). DOI: 10.1115/ISEC2005-76128.
- [12] A. U. Samuel et al. "Effect of Machining of Aluminium Alloys with Emphasis on Aluminium 6061 Alloy – A Review". In: *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering* 1107 (2021). DOI: 10.1088/1757-899X/1107/1/ 012157.
- [13] Adriana Domínguez and Roland Geyer. "Photovoltaic waste assessment in Mexico". In: *Resources, conservation and recycling* 127 (Dec. 2017), pp. 29– 41. DOI: 10.1016/j.resconrec.2017.08.013. URL: https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.resconrec.2017.08.013.
- [14] Zuyu Wu et al. "A Review for Solar Panel Fire Accident Prevention in Large-Scale PV Applications". In: *IEEE Access* 8 (2020), pp. 132466–132480. DOI: 10.1109/ACCESS.2020.3010212.
- Shiva Gorjian et al. "Recent technical advancements, economics and environmental impacts of floating photovoltaic solar energy conversion systems". In: Journal of cleaner production 278 (Jan. 2021), p. 124285. DOI: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.124285. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.124285.
- [16] Xin Jia et al. "Life-cycle assessment of p-type multi-Si back surface field (BSF) solar module in China of 2019". In: *Solar Energy* 196 (Jan. 2020), pp. 207-216. DOI: 10.1016/j.solener.2019.12.018. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.solener.2019.12.018.
- [17] Rong Deng et al. "A techno-economic review of silicon photovoltaic module recycling". In: *Renewable and sustainable energy reviews* 109 (July 2019), pp. 532-550. DOI: 10.1016/j.rser.2019.04.020. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.04.020.
- [18] A Lennon et al. "The aluminium demand risk of terawatt photovoltaics for net zero emissions by 2050". In: nature.comA Lennon, M Lunardi, B Hallam, PR DiasNature Sustainability, 2022•nature.com (2021). DOI: 10.21203/rs.3.rs-846247/v1. URL: https://www.nature.com/articles/s41893-021-00838-9.
- [19] T. Felder et al. "Analysis of glass-glass modules". In: 10759 (2018). DOI: 10. 1117/12.2321637.
- B. Weller and L. Tautenhahn. "Mechanical challenge of frameless PV-modules". In: 2010 12th IEEE Intersociety Conference on Thermal and Thermomechanical Phenomena in Electronic Systems (2010), pp. 1–5. DOI: 10.1109/ITHERM. 2010.5501292.
- [21] DanielD . Joseph et al. "Frame detachment simulation of PV modules under mechanical load". In: 2023 24th International Conference on Thermal, Mechanical and Multi-Physics Simulation and Experiments in Microelectronics and Microsystems (EuroSimE) (2023), pp. 1–6. DOI: 10.1109/EuroSimE5686 1.2023.10100801.
- [22] Solar Module Mounting Structure Nakoda Steel. URL: https://www.nakod asteel.com/product/solar-module-mounting-structure/.

- [23] Riya Roy and Joshua M. Pearce. "Is small or big solar better for the environment? Comparative life cycle assessment of solar photovoltaic rooftop vs. ground-mounted systems". In: *The international journal of life cycle assessment* (Dec. 2023). DOI: 10.1007/s11367-023-02254-x. URL: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11367-023-02254-x.
- [24] ChuangPeng. YONGU-Professional Manufactory of Aluminum Enclosures. URL: https://www.yg-enclosure.com/product/yongu-inverters-puresine-wave-10000-watt-aluminum-alloy-Electronic-Enclosure-h27-145-54mm.html.
- [25] International Aluminium Institute. Primary aluminium smelting energy intensity - International Aluminium Institute. Aug. 2022. URL: https://inte rnational-aluminium.org/statistics/primary-aluminium-smeltingenergy-intensity.
- [26] Susana Moreira, Timothy Laing, and Adriana Unzueta Saavedra. Cost-competitive, low-carbon aluminum is key to the energy transition. Mar. 2024. URL: https: //blogs.worldbank.org/energy/cost-competitive-low-carbonaluminum-key-energy-transition.
- [27] International Aluminium Institute. Aluminium Sector Greenhouse Gas Pathways to 2050 - International Aluminium Institute. Nov. 2022. URL: https: //international-aluminium.org/resource/aluminium-sector-greenhou se-gas-pathways-to-2050-2021/.
- [28] International Aluminium Institute. Primary Aluminium smelting Power Consumption - International Aluminium Institute. Aug. 2022. URL: https://int ernational-aluminium.org/statistics/primary-aluminium-smeltingpower-consumption/.
- [29] Angxing Shen and Jihong Zhang. "Technologies for CO2 emission reduction and low-carbon development in primary aluminum industry in China: A review". In: *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 189 (2024), p. 113965.
   ISSN: 1364-0321. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2023.113965.
   URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S13640321 23008237.
- [30] Gudrun Saevarsdottir, Halvor Kvande, and Barry J. Welch. "Aluminum production in the Times of Climate Change: The global challenge to reduce the carbon footprint and prevent carbon leakage". In: JOM 72.1 (Nov. 2019), pp. 296–308. DOI: 10.1007/s11837-019-03918-6. URL: https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s11837-019-03918-6.
- [31] Ning Ding et al. "Life cycle greenhouse gas emissions of aluminum based on regional industrial transfer in China". In: *Journal of Industrial Ecology* 25.6 (May 2021), pp. 1657–1672. DOI: 10.1111/jiec.13146. URL: https://doi. org/10.1111/jiec.13146.
- S. Fedorov and P. Palyanitsin. "Energy efficiency in primary aluminium industry". In: *IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering* 560 (2019). DOI: 10.1088/1757-899X/560/1/012180.

- [33] P.E. Tsakiridis. "Aluminium salt slag characterization and utilization A review". In: Journal of Hazardous Materials 217-218 (2012), pp. 1-10. ISSN: 0304-3894. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2012.03.052. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0304389412003 317.
- [34] Sai Krishna Padamata, Andrey Yasinskiy, and Petr Polyakov. "A Review of Secondary Aluminum Production and Its Byproducts". In: JOM 73 (July 2021). DOI: 10.1007/s11837-021-04802-y.
- [35] Anna Luthin, Jana Gerta Backes, and Marzia Traverso. "A framework to identify environmental-economic trade-offs by combining life cycle assessment and life cycle costing – A case study of aluminium production". In: *Journal* of cleaner production 321 (Oct. 2021), p. 128902. DOI: 10.1016/j.jclepro. 2021.128902. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.128902.
- [36] Gang Liu and Daniel B. Müller. "Addressing sustainability in the aluminum industry: a critical review of life cycle assessments". In: *Journal of cleaner production* 35 (Nov. 2012), pp. 108–117. DOI: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2012.05. 030. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2012.05.030.
- [37] Antoinette van Schaik and Markus A. Reuter. "Chapter 22 Material-Centric (Aluminum and Copper) and Product-Centric (Cars, WEEE, TV, Lamps, Batteries, Catalysts) Recycling and DfR Rules". In: *Handbook of Recycling*. Ed. by Ernst Worrell and Markus A. Reuter. Boston: Elsevier, 2014, pp. 307–378. ISBN: 978-0-12-396459-5. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-396459-5.00022-2. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780123964595000222.
- [38] S. Capuzzi and G. Timelli. "Preparation and melting of scrap in aluminum recycling: A review". In: 8 (2018), p. 249. DOI: 10.3390/MET8040249.
- [39] A. Wagiman et al. "A review on direct hot extrusion technique in recycling of aluminium chips". In: *The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology* 106 (2020), pp. 641–653. DOI: 10.1007/s00170-019-04629-7.
- [40] N. K. Yusuf, M. A. Lajis, and Azlan Ahmad. "Multiresponse Optimization and Environmental Analysis in Direct Recycling Hot Press Forging of Aluminum AA6061". In: *Materials* 12 (2019). DOI: 10.3390/ma12121918.
- [41] Sherif A. Khalifa et al. "Dynamic material flow analysis of silicon photovoltaic modules to support a circular economy transition". In: *Progress in photovoltaics* 30.7 (Mar. 2022), pp. 784–805. DOI: 10.1002/pip.3554. URL: https: //doi.org/10.1002/pip.3554.
- [42] IP Irena. "End-of-life management: solar photovoltaic panels". In: International renewable energy agency and international energy agency photovoltaic power systems (2016).
- [43] M. Lunardi et al. "Comparative Life Cycle Assessment of End-of-Life Silicon Solar Photovoltaic Modules". In: Applied Sciences (2018). DOI: 10.3390/ APP8081396.
- [44] M. Schlesinger. "Recycling of Aluminum". In: Aluminum Science and Technology (2018). DOI: 10.31399/asm.hb.v02a.a0006484.

- [45] G. Ansanelli et al. "A Life Cycle Assessment of a recovery process from Endof-Life Photovoltaic Panels". In: Applied Energy 290 (2021), p. 116727. DOI: 10.1016/J.APENERGY.2021.116727.
- [46] Components for Your Solar Panel (Photovoltaic) System. URL: https://www. altestore.com/diy-solar-resources/components-for-your-solarpanel-photovoltaic-system/.
- [47] Robert Underwood et al. "Abundant Material Consumption Based on a Learning Curve for Photovoltaic toward Net-Zero Emissions by 2050". In: Solar RRL 7.8 (Sept. 2022). DOI: 10.1002/solr.202200705. URL: https://doi.org/10.1002/solr.202200705.
- [48] Shahjadi Hisan Farjana, N. Huda, and M. Mahmud. "Impacts of aluminum production: A cradle to gate investigation using life-cycle assessment." In: *The Science of the total environment* 663 (2019), pp. 958–970. DOI: 10.1016/j. scitotenv.2019.01.400.
- [49] Alexandre Milovanoff, I. D. Posen, and H. MacLean. "Quantifying environmental impacts of primary aluminum ingot production and consumption: A trade-linked multilevel life cycle assessment". In: *Journal of Industrial Ecology* 25 (2020), pp. 67–78. DOI: 10.1111/jiec.13051.
- [50] Yan Ma et al. "Circular economy and life cycle assessment of alumina production: Simulation-based comparison of Pedersen and Bayer processes". In: *Journal of cleaner production* 366 (Sept. 2022), p. 132807. DOI: 10.1016/j. jclepro.2022.132807. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2022. 132807.
- [51] M. Takla et al. "Energy and exergy analysis of the silicon production process". In: Energy 58 (2013), pp. 138-146. ISSN: 0360-5442. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.energy.2013.04.051. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S0360544213003666.
- [52] Julie Pedneault et al. "What future for primary aluminium production in a decarbonizing economy?" In: *Global Environmental Change* (2021). DOI: 10.1016/J.GLOENVCHA.2021.102316.
- [53] S. Mahmoudi et al. "Material Flow Analysis of the End-of-Life Photovoltaic Waste in Australia". In: *DEStech Transactions on Environment, Energy and Earth Sciences* (2019). DOI: 10.12783/DTEEES/ICEEE2018/27806.
- [54] Rubel Biswas Chowdhury et al. "A review of recent substance flow analyses of phosphorus to identify priority management areas at different geographical scales". In: *Resources, Conservation and Recycling* 83 (2014), pp. 213–228.
- [55] ITRPV Results 2021 including maturity report 2022. Tech. rep. Nov. 2022.
- [56] Chengjian Xu, Olindo Isabella, and Malte Ruben Vogt. "Future material demand for global silicon-based PV modules under net-zero emissions target until 2050". In: *Resources, Conservation and Recycling* 210 (2024), p. 107824.
- [57] ENFsolar. Solar Mounting System Directory. URL: https://www.enfsolar. com/pv/mounting-system.
- [58] A. Sayed et al. "Reliability, Availability and Maintainability analysis for Grid-Connected Solar Photovoltaic systems". In: *Energies* 12.7 (Mar. 2019), p. 1213.
   DOI: 10.3390/en12071213. URL: https://doi.org/10.3390/en12071213.

- [59] Geoffrey Klise, Olga Lavrova, and Renee Gooding. PV System Component fault and Failure compilation and Analysis. Tech. rep. Feb. 2018. DOI: 10. 2172/1424887. URL: https://doi.org/10.2172/1424887.
- [60] Stephanie Weckend, Andreas Wade, and Garvin A. Heath. "End of Life Management: Solar Photovoltaic Panels". In: (June 2016). DOI: 10.2172/1561525. URL: https://www.osti.gov/biblio/1561525.
- [61] Jerry Blomberg and Patrik Söderholm. "The economics of secondary aluminium supply: An econometric analysis based on European data". In: *Resources, conservation and recycling* 53.8 (June 2009), pp. 455-463. DOI: 10. 1016/j.resconrec.2009.03.001. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2009.03.001.
- [62] Yongxian Zhu and Daniel R. Cooper. "An optimal reverse material supply chain for U.S. aluminum scrap". In: *Proceedia CIRP* 80 (Jan. 2019), pp. 677–682. DOI: 10.1016/j.procir.2019.01.065. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2019.01.065.
- [63] Yun Li et al. "When will the arrival of China's secondary aluminum era?" In: *Resources policy* 65 (Mar. 2020), p. 101573. DOI: 10.1016/j.resourpol. 2019.101573. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resourpol.2019.101573.
- [64] Stefano Capuzzi and Giulio Timelli. "Preparation and Melting of Scrap in Aluminum Recycling: A Review". In: *Metals* 8.4 (2018). ISSN: 2075-4701. DOI: 10.3390/met8040249. URL: https://www.mdpi.com/2075-4701/8/4/249.
- [65] Prakash Maladkar. Aluminium recycling process and an over view of aluminum scrap/chip recycling plant by AFECO Industries. Oct. 2013. URL: https:// blog.alcircle.com/2013/10/17/aluminium-recycling-process-andan-over-view-of-aluminum-scrapchip-recycling-process-plant-byafeco-industries/.
- [66] Aluminum Scrap and Recycling. URL: https://www.harboraluminum.com/ en/scrap-and-secondary-aluminum.
- [67] Philippe Stolz, Rolf Frischknecht, and fair life cycle thinking treeze Ltd. Life cycle inventories of aluminium and aluminium profiles. Tech. rep. 2016. URL: https://www.dflca.ch/inventories/Hintergrund/Stolz\_Frischknecht\_ 2016-Oekobilanz-Aluminium-Bauprodukte\_v1.0-Web.pdf.
- [68] M. Jaber. "Learning Curves : Theory, Models, and Applications". In: (2011). DOI: 10.1201/B10957.
- [69] Ecoinvent Centre. *Ecoinvent Database Version 3.10*. Accessed: 2024-07-18. 2024. URL: https://www.ecoinvent.org.
- [70] Emily Walker and Casey McDevitt. How long do solar panels last? June 2024. URL: https://www.energysage.com/solar/how-long-do-solar-panelslast/.
- [71] Sunrun. How Long Do Solar Panels Really Last? Jan. 2023. URL: https: //www.sunrun.com/go-solar-center/solar-articles/how-long-dosolar-panels-really-last.
- Jaeun Kim et al. "A Review of the Degradation of Photovoltaic Modules for Life Expectancy". In: *Energies* 14.14 (2021). ISSN: 1996-1073. DOI: 10.3390/ en14144278. URL: https://www.mdpi.com/1996-1073/14/14/4278.

- [73] Recycling and End-of-Life Considerations for Photovoltaics. URL: https:// www.seia.org/initiatives/recycling-end-life-considerations-phot ovoltaics.
- [74] Kelly Sean and Apelian Diran. "Grave-to-Gate: Automotive aluminum recycling at End-of-Life". In: Light metal age 75.1 (Jan. 2017), pp. 43-. URL: http://jglobal.jst.go.jp/en/public/20090422/201702289220927855.
- [75] Halvor Kvande. "The aluminum smelting process". In: Journal of occupational and environmental medicine 56.Supplement 5S (May 2014), S2–S4. DOI: 10. 1097 / jom. 00000000000154. URL: https://doi.org/10.1097 / jom. 0000000000154.
- [76] Marlen Bertram, Kenneth J. Martchek, and Georg Rombach. "Material flow analysis in the aluminum industry". In: Journal of industrial ecology 13.5 (Oct. 2009), pp. 650–654. DOI: 10.1111/j.1530-9290.2009.00158.x. URL: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1530-9290.2009.00158.x.
- [77] Daniel Brough and Hussam Jouhara. "The aluminium industry: A review on state-of-the-art technologies, environmental impacts and possibilities for waste heat recovery". In: International Journal of Thermofluids 1-2 (2020), p. 100007. ISSN: 2666-2027. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijft.2019. 100007. URL: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2666202719300072.
- [78] Cynthia E.L. Latunussa et al. "Life Cycle Assessment of an innovative recycling process for crystalline silicon photovoltaic panels". In: Solar energy materials solar cells/Solar energy materials and solar cells 156 (Nov. 2016), pp. 101–111. DOI: 10.1016/j.solmat.2016.03.020. URL: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.solmat.2016.03.020.
- [79] Youn Kyu Yi et al. "Recovering valuable metals from recycled photovoltaic modules". In: Journal of the Air Waste Management Association 64.7 (Mar. 2014), pp. 797–807. DOI: 10.1080/10962247.2014.891540. URL: https://doi.org/10.1080/10962247.2014.891540.
- [80] K Wambach et al. "PVCYCLE-The Voluntary Take Back System and Industrial Recycling of PV Modules". In: 24th EU PVSEC (2009), pp. 21–25.
- [81] International Aluminium Institute. Primary Aluminium Production International Aluminium Institute. June 2024. URL: https://internationalaluminium.org/statistics/primary-aluminium-production/.
- [82] Lúcia Helena Xavier, Marianna Ottoni, and Leonardo Picanço Peixoto Abreu.
  "A comprehensive review of urban mining and the value recovery from ewaste materials". In: *Resources, conservation and recycling* 190 (Mar. 2023), p. 106840. DOI: 10.1016/j.resconrec.2022.106840. URL: https://doi. org/10.1016/j.resconrec.2022.106840.
- [83] Global Energy Review: CO2 emissions in 2020 analysis IEA. Mar. 2021. URL: https://www.iea.org/articles/global-energy-review-co2emissions-in-2020.

- [84] Dmitrii Bogdanov et al. "Radical transformation pathway towards sustainable electricity via evolutionary steps". In: Nature Communications 10.1 (Mar. 2019). DOI: 10.1038/s41467-019-08855-1. URL: https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-08855-1.
- [85] International Aluminium. *The aluminium story The aluminium story*. Feb. 2024. URL: https://thealuminiumstory.com/.
- [86] Julien Walzberg, A. Carpenter, and G. Heath. "Role of the social factors in success of solar photovoltaic reuse and recycle programmes". In: *Nature Energy* 6 (2021), pp. 913–924. DOI: 10.1038/s41560-021-00888-5.
- [87] International Electrotechnical Commission et al. "IEC 61730-1: 2016. Photovoltaic (PV) Module Safety Qualification—Part 1: Requirements for Construction". In: International Electrotechnical Commission: Geneva, Switzerland (2016).
- [88] Dirk C Jordan et al. "PV field reliability status—Analysis of 100 000 solar systems". In: Progress in Photovoltaics: Research and Applications 28.8 (2020), pp. 739–754.
- [89] Dirk C Jordan et al. "Photovoltaic failure and degradation modes". In: *Progress in Photovoltaics: Research and Applications* 25.4 (2017), pp. 318–326.
- [90] Dirk C Jordan and Sarah R Kurtz. "Field performance of 1.7 GW of photovoltaic systems". In: *IEEE Journal of photovoltaics* 5.1 (2014), pp. 243–249.